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I. INTRODUCTION

For private plaintiffs seeking treble damage redress in the Fifth Circuit
for alleged antitrust violations, 1981 was an extremely bad year. Of fifteen
reported decisions, the court disposed of twelve in favor of the defen-
dants. Of these twelve decisions, ten were affirmances of district court
orders that disposed of the litigation as a matter of law, either by dismis-
sal of the complaint (one), summary judgment (six), directed verdict
(two), or judgment notwithstanding the verdict (one). In two cases, the
court reversed verdicts rendered in favor of the plaintiffs. The plaintiffs
won temporary victories in two decisions because directed verdicts
against them were reversed, but both cases were remanded to the trial
court for further proceedings that very well may terminate against them.

The decisions illustrate the numerous hazards and hurdles that con-
front a plaintiff in the Fifth Circuit. Only when the plaintiff is alleging
simple horizontal price fixing are his burdens diminished. In this situa-
tion, the Fifth Circuit has taken a rather generous view of circumstantial
proof requirements and has cut a small loophole in the "indirect pur-
chaser" doctrine. Furthermore, the government prevailed on the defen-
dants' appeal from a criminal price fixing conviction.

In sum, it would seem that a private plaintiff considering antitrust liti-
gation in the Fifth Circuit would do well to consider another venue.

II. DEALER TERMINATION LITIGATION-DISTRIBUTIvE RESTRAINTS,

RESALE PRICE MAINTENANCE, AND TYING

The termination of a dealer-supplier relationship is a common event.
The loss of a particular product or franchise may cause injury to business
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or property, and terminated dealers and their lawyers have frequently
sought comfort in the treble damages remedy under the antitrust laws.'
The claimed substantive violation is typically a combination in restraint
of trade violating section 1 of the Sherman Act.2 To succeed, the termi-
nated dealer-plaintiff must prove there was a contract, combination, or
conspiracy to unreasonably restrain trade, with some effect on interstate
commerce, which proximately caused injury to his business or property.'
The dealer-plaintiff must also prove the amount of his damages.

The dealer-plaintiff must first decide what the claimed unreasonable
restraint will be and where the combination or conspiracy will be found.
Resale price maintenance presents the easiest case because the Supreme
Court has consistently held it to be a per se unreasonable restraint since
the 1911 decision in Dr. Miles Medical Co. v. John D. Park & Sons Co."
If the plaintiff can prove that his supplier engaged in resale price mainte-
nance, he need not show an unreasonable restraint on competition in the
particular product and geographic markets involved.

The "combination" requirement has presented considerable theoretical
difficulty in the supplier-dealer context since the act of termination is the
damage causing event and is usally done unilaterally. The Supreme
Court in United States v. Colgate & Co.' approved a purely unilateral
refusal to deal with dealers who sold below announced retail prices. Al-
though Colgate has been seriously undermined by subsequent decisions,'

1. 15 U.S.C. § 15 (1976).
2. 15 U.S.C. § 1 (1976). Section 3 of the Clayton Act, 15 U.S.C. § 14 (1976), may also be

used when the substantive theory of the violation is tying or exclusive dealing.
3. See, e.g., Jeffrey v. Southwestern Bell, 518 F.2d 1129 (5th Cir. 1975), affirming sum-

mary judgment for defendants who allegedly had attempted to monopolize the telephone
equipment market. Plaintiffs, who were residential telephone subscribers, may have suffered
some "pocketbook injury," but they were not the "targets" of the anticompetitive behavior
and hence lacked "standing". The Fifth Circuit observed that "courts take a less con-
strained view of standing in suits involving injunctive relief," but plaintiffs failed under that
standard as well. Id. at 1132.

4. 220 U.S. 373 (1911). Although it can be persuasively argued that resale price mainte-
nance is neither more nor less pernicious than other vertical distributive restraints such as
exclusive territories, to which the rule of reason applies (i.e., plaintiff must prove they are
unreasonably restrictive in the facts of the particular case), the Supreme Court nevertheless
reaffirmed the per se rule in Continental T.V., Inc. v. GTE Sylvania Inc., 433 U.S. 36, 51
n.18 (1977). See also California Retail Liquor Dealers Ass'n v. Midcal Aluminum, Inc., 445
U.S. 97 (1980). The Court has been so firm in its resolve that it has condemned both mini-
mum and maximum resale price controls, although maximum controls could be viewed as
protecting the consumer from insufficient competition at the dealer level. Albrecht v. Her-
ald Co., 390 U.S. 145 (1968). Justice Harlan argued that maximum resale price dictation
should be subject to rule of reason analysis. Id. at 166-68 (Harlan, J., dissenting).

5. 250 U.S. 300 (1919).
6. Albrecht v. Herald Co., 390 U.S. 145 (1968); United States v. Parke, Davis & Co., 362

U.S. 29 (1960).
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it has not been overruled and still lurks in the background.7 It is fair to
say, however, that the Supreme Court has at times virtually ignored the
combination requirement if the vertical restraint was deemed objectiona-
ble,8 and Fifth Circuit decisions have readily found the required combina-
tion when punitive termination followed a dealer violation of a vertical
restraint.9 Further, plaintiff's participation in the illegal combination is
not a defense on in pari delicto grounds, at least when the plaintiff-dealer
has not affirmatively bargained for the restrictions.10

It follows that if the plaintiff can show a punitive termination for vio-
lating the resale price maintenance program of his supplier, he must then
show only a causal injury to his business or property and the amount of
damage. If the franchise was profitable and the termination was in re-
sponse to a violation of the pricing program, the causation requirement is
satisfied." It remains only to prove the amount of damages, usually in the

7. See, e.g., Quinn v. Mobil Oil Co., 375 F.2d 273 (1st Cir. 1967) (refusing to apply sec-
tion 1 of the Sherman Act to the termination of a gasoline retailer for refusal to reduce
retail prices).

8. See, e.g., United States v. Arnold, Schwinn & Co., 388 U.S. 365, 372 (1967) (combina-
tion assumed when supplier was "'firm and resolute' in insisting upon observance of territo-
rial and customer limitations" and "'firmness' . . . was grounded upon the communicated
danger of termination"); Simpson v. Union Oil Co., 377 U.S. 13 (1964) ("We made it clear in
United States v. Parke, Davis & Co.. . . that a supplier may not use coercion on its retail
outlets to achieve resale price maintenance. We reiterate that view, adding that it matters
not what the coercive device is.") Id. at 17 (citation omitted).

9. Greene v. General Foods Corp., 517 F.2d 635, 654-55 (5th Cir. 1975); Hobart Bros. v.
Malcolm T. Gilliland, Inc., 471 F.2d 894, 900-01 (5th Cir. 1973); Lehrman v. Gulf Oil Corp.,
464 F.2d 26, 39 (5th Cir. 1972); Broussard v. Socony Mobil Oil Co., 350 F.2d 346, 350 (5th
Cir. 1965); cf Dillon Materials Handling, Inc. v. Albion Indus., 567 F.2d 1299, 1306 (5th Cir.
1978) (evidence insufficient to establish exclusive-dealing contract between dealer and
supplier).

When the vertical restraint is imposed on a number of dealers and limits competition
among them, the safest course would be to allege a combination among other dealers and
the defendant-supplier, as well as between the terminated plaintiff and the defendant-sup-
plier as of the date the plaintiff unwillingly acquiesced. Albrecht v. Herald Co., 390 U.S. 145,
150 n.6 (1968) (Justice Harlan's dissent at 162-64). For discussion of the combination issue
in the dealer termination context, see Bartlit, Practical Problems in Terminating Distribu-
tors and Dealers, 42 ANTITRUST L.J. 317 (1972); Bohling, Franchise Terminations under the
Sherman Act: Populism and Relational Power, 53 TEx. L. Rav. 1180 (1975); Day, New
Theories of Agreement and Combinations, 42 ANTITRUST L.J, 287 (1973); Fulda, Individual
Refusals to Deal: When Does Single Firm Conduct Become A Vertical Restraint?, 30 L. &
CONTEMP. PROS. 590 (1965); Maslow, Colgate Updated: Resale Price Maintenance and
Antitrust Liability, 48 N.Y. ST. B.J. 626 (1978); Note, Combinatons in Restraint of
Trade: A New Approach to Section 1 of the Sherman Act, 1966 UTAH L. R.v. 75.

10. Perma Life Mufflers, Inc. v. Int'l Parts Corp., 392 U.S. 134 (1968).
11. Cf. Joe Regueira, Inc. v. American Distilling Co., 642 F.2d 826, 832-33 (5th Cir. 1981)

(plaintiff produced no significant probative evidence that its termination was for violation of
resale price maintenance scheme).
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form of lost future profits. The law on this point has been generous to
plaintiffs, permitting even "proof of losses which border on the
speculative."' 2

When distributive restraints other than resale price maintenance are
concerned, the litigation would be expected to follow the same general
outline. In Continental T.V., Inc. v. GTE Sylvania, s however, the Su-
preme Court held that such other restraints are not per se unreasonable.
Therefore, if the dealer termination was allegedly the result of a violation
by the dealer of a restraint on distribution other than resale price mainte-
nance,14 or was the result of the supplier's decision to make another
dealer his exclusive outlet, the plaintiff must additionally prove that the
arrangement unreasonably restrained trade in the relevant product and
geographic markets.

Two vital questions have arisen since GTE Sylvania was decided.
First, what must be shown by the plaintiff in order to make out a prima
facie case of unreasonableness and withstand a directed verdict or sum-
mary judgment? Vertical distributive restraints are not per se illegal be-
cause although they diminish intrabrand competition, they may increase
interbrand competition by promoting aggressive dealer activity (for exam-
ple, advertising programs and dealer services or pursuing smaller ac-
counts that would otherwise go unserviced).1 5 On the other hand, when

12. Malcolm v. Marathon Oil Co., 642 F.2d 845, 858 (5th Cir. 1981). See also the cases
cited therein.

13. 433 U.S. 36 (1977).
14. Some examples are restrictions on the locations from which the product may be sold,

on the customers to whom the product may be sold, on the sale of competing products, and
on sales to customers located outside of an assigned territory. Other examples include a
requirement that a dealer devote his "primary responsibility" to a particular territory and a
"profit passover" provision for sales outside of an assigned territory.

15. See ABA ANTITRUST SECTION, MONOGRAPH No. 2, VERTICAL RESTRICTIONs LIMITING

INTRABRAND COMPETITION (1977), for a comprehensive treatment of the economic justifica-
tions and the decisional law prior to GTE Sylvania.

Many articles have been written discussing the economic pros and cons of vertical distri-
bution restraints. The majority of commentators conclude that the rule of reason is the
proper standard to apply in these cases. See Bohling, A Simplified Rule of Reason for Ver-
tical Restraints: Integrating Social Goals, Economic Analysis, and Sylvania, 64 IOWA L.
REV. 461 (1979); Day, Exclusive Territorial Arrangements Under the Antitrust Laws-A
Reappraisal, 40 N.C.L. REV. 223 (1962); Jenkins, Territorial and Customer Restrictions in
Franchise Agreements Under the Antitrust Laws, 2 AKRON L. REV. 1 (1968); Pogue, Verti-
cal Restrictions on Price, Territory and Customers-The Certainty of Uncertainty, 29
OHIO ST. L.J. 272 (1968); Preston, Restrictive Distribution Arrangements: Economic Ar-
rangements: Economic Analysis and Public Policy Standards, 30 L. & CONTEMP. PROEL.
506 (1965); Strasser, Vertical Territorial Restraints After Sylvania: A Policy Analysis and
Proposed New Rule, 1977 DUKE L.J. 775; Note, Continental T.V., Inc. v. GTE Sylvania,
Inc.-An Economic Approach to Antitrust, 8 MEm. ST. L. REV. 565 (1978); Note, The Per
Se Rule as Applied to Vertical Territorial Restraints: An Improper Standard, 1975 DUKE



19821 ANTITRUST 1005

there is significant product differentiation within a generic product mar-
ket (Sony television sets within the television product market, for exam-
ple), strong consumer preference for a particular brand may confer some
market power on sellers of the favored brand." When this is the case,
dealers will have a strong motivation to limit or eliminate competition
among themselves. The point has been made often that the manufac-
turer-supplier has no similar motivation because he will attempt to ex-
tract all of the price advantage in his sales price to his dealers.1 7 After the
initial sale, the manufacturer would then desire competition at the dealer

L.J. 935; Note, Restricted Channels of Distribution Under the Sherman Act, 75 HAIv. L.
REV. 795 (1962); Note, Territorial Restrictions and Per Se Rules-A Reevaluation of the
Schwinn and Sealy Doctrines, 70 MICH. L. REV. 616 (1972); Note, Vertical Territorial and
Customer Restriction in the Franchising Industry, 10 COLUM. L.J. & Soc. PROB. 497 (1974);
Editorial Note, Territorial and Customer Restrictions: A Trend Toward a Broader Rule of
Reason?, 40 GEo. WASH. L. REv. 123 (1971).

A second group of commentators advocate a variation on the rule of reason standard that
would change the burden of proof according to the defendant's market power and the re-
strictiveness of the particular restraint. See Baker, Vertical Restraints in Times of
Change: From White to Schwinn to Where?, 44 ABA ANTITRUST L.J. 537 (1975); Flynn,
The Function and Dysfunction of Per Se Rules in Vertical Market Restraints, 58 WASH.

U.L.Q. 767 (1980); Pitofsky, The Sylvania Case: Antitrust Analysis of Non-Price Vertical
Restrictions, 78 COLUM. L. REV. 1 (1978); Stewart & Roberts, Viability of the Antitrust Per
Se Illegality Rule: Schwinn Down, How Many to Go?, 58 WASH. U.L.Q. 77 (1980); Wil-
liamson, Assessing Vertical Market Restrictions: Antitrust Ramifications of the Transac-
tion Cost Approach, 127 U. PA. L. REV. 953 (1979).

Several commentators advocate a per se legality standard. See Bork, The Rule of Reason
and the Per Se Concept: Price Fixing and Market Division II, 75 YALE L.J. 373 (1966);
Posner, The Next Step in the Antitrust Treatment of Restricted Distribution: Per Se
Legality, 48 U. CHI. L. REV. 6 (1981); Warren, Economics of Closed Territory Distribution,
2 ANTITRUST L. & ECON. REV. 111 (1968).

Other writers reject the economic justifications for vertical distribution restraints offered
by the above commentators and conclude that economic analysis dictates application of a
per Se illegality standard. See Comanor, Vertical Territorial and Customer Restric-
tions: White Motor and its Aftermath, 81 HARV. L. REV. 1419 (1968); Louis, Vertical Dis-
tributional Restraints Under Schwinn and Sylvania: An Argument for the Continuing
Use of a Partial Per Se Approach, 75 MICH. L. REV. 275 (1976) (advocates continued use of
Schwinn rule); Stone, Closed Territorial Distribution: An Opening Question in the Sher-
man Act, 30 U. CHI. L. REV. 286 (1962); Note, Vertical Nonprice Restrictions and Antitrust
Policy: Assumptions Reexamined, 1977 UTAH L. REV. 719.

See generally, Comment, Vertical Restrictions and Distribution Process: A Practical
Review of Economics and the Rule of Reason After Sylvania, 38 LA. L. REV. 1022 (1978).

16. Comanor, Vertical Territorial and Customer Restrictions: White Motor and its Af-
termath, 81 HARV. L. REV. 1419, 1423-24 (1968). As Professor Comanor points out, product
differentiation is generally greater in final consumer markets than in industrial markets. Id.
at 1423-24. This is undoubtedly due to the importance of advertising in stimulating brand
preferences.

17. See, e.g., Continental T.V., Inc. v. GTE Sylvania Inc., 433 U.S. 36, 56 n.24 (1977);
Red Diamond Supply, Inc. v. Liquid Carbonic Corp., 637 F.2d 1001, 1004 n.4 (5th Cir. 1981).
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level to maximize his sales volume. This theory assumes, however, that
the manufacturer can calculate the price advantage with precision.

The Court in GTE Sylvania determined that the anticompetitive con-
sequences of distributional restraints are not sufficiently clear to condemn
them as per se illegal."8 The Court did not explain, however, when and to
what extent the burden would be on the defendant to justify the distribu-
tive restraint as a systematic marketing program initiated for the purpose
of furthering interbrand competition and to show that the program had
the intended effect. 19 Although GTE Sylvania discussed the theories sup-
porting the possible competitive benefits of such restraints," it certainly
did no more than conclude that per se illegality was unmerited. Indeed,
the Court recognized that "particular applications of vertical restrictions
might justify per se prohibition."21

Given the Court's continuing antipathy to vertical price restraints2 2 and
the observation that other distributive restraints can be more anticompe-
titive in particular situations than minimum resale price maintenance,"2

one could certainly expect judicial skepticism concerning the claimed
competitive benefits of nonprice restraints, particularly when the plaintiff
demonstrated a serious interference with intrabrand competition." The
opposite has occurred in the Fifth Circuit, however. The court has
adopted a virtual presumption that nonprice vertical restraints improve
interbrand competition and has required the plaintiff to demonstrate the

18. The Supreme Court in GTE Sylvania overruled United States v. Arnold, Schwinn &
Co., 388 U.S. 365 (1967), which held that exclusive territories and customer limitations were
illegal per se if the supplier sold the product to his dealers. If the product was consigned,
however, the restriction was subject to the rule of reason. The Court's distinction between
sale and consignment was based on the ancient rule against restraints on alienation. Id. at
380. Since this consideration could have little to do with the anticompetitive impact of the
restraint, the consignment proviso must have been a loophole intentionally left by the Court
to save these restraints from per se illegality in cases in which the supplier cared enough to
follow the paperwork. See Justice Powell's discussion of Schwinn in Continental T.V., Inc.
v. GTE Sylvania, Inc., 433 U.S. 36, 52-53 (1977). The Court in Schwinn, therefore, contin-
ued its initial unwillingness in White Motor Co. v. United States, 372 U.S. 253 (1963),
unambiguously to condemn distributional restraints to the per se category.

19. The frequently quoted statement of the rule of reason contained in Justice Brandeis'
opinion in Board of Trade v. United States, 246 U.S. 231, 238 (1918), is nothing more than a
direction to examine the alleged restraint in the economic and historical context in which it
occurred.

20. 433 U.S. at 54-57.
21. Id. at 58.
22. See note 4 supra.
23. See Eastern Scientific Co. v. Wild Heerbrugg Instruments, Inc., 572 F.2d 883, 885

(lst Cir. 1978); Posner, The Next Step in the Antitrust Treatment of Restricted Distribu-
tion: Per Se Legality, 48 U. CH. L. REV. 6, 9-10 (1981).

24. See Zelek, Stern & Dunfee, A Rule of Reason Decision Model After Sylvania, 68
CALIF. L. REV. 13, 41-46 (1980).
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absence of sufficient interbrand competition, usually through proof of a
concentrated market, to avoid summary judgment or a directed verdict."5

The second question, which was not addressed by the Court in GTE
Sylvania, is whether the participation of the manufacturer-supplier at the
dealership level, and the reservation of a certain territory or certain cus-
tomers to it, will convert the vertical restraint into a horizontal one. 6 The
answer may well depend on whether the Supreme Court's decision in
United States v. Topco Associates" withstands the test of time. In
Topco, a number of relatively small grocery chains 8 participated in
Topco, a cooperative association whose function was to procure and mar-
ket food products under brand names owned by Topco. The grocery
chains entered into exclusive location agreements among themselves. Al-
though the participants were undeniably in vigorous competition with
many larger grocery chains, and although the Topco association may have
increased interbrand competition, the Court condemned the arrangement
as a horizontal allocation of territories and as illegal per se. The Court
reasoned that the task of evaluating the competitive justifications for the
arrangement was too delicate and complex for the judiciary and should be
left to Congress.2 9

An allocation of territories or customers by a supplier who also is com-
peting with his dealers would seem to involve the same considerations.
Suppose, for example, that instead of a joint venture, Topco was origi-
nally a food processing business that owned certain brands. If Topco then
distributed its brands through grocery chains with exclusive locations and
also retained exclusive locations for its own retail outlets, would this be
any less of a horizontal allocation? If the law accepts this distribution
system as subject to the rule of reason while condemning the actual
Topco arrangement as illegal per se, it is making the dubious assumption

25. Cf. Zelek, Stern & Dunfee, supra note 24, at 29-41, arguing that in such a market,
intrabrand restraints should be "presumptively illegal" and could be saved only by proof
that the defendant was failing or faltering or that the restraint was required to protect
consumers from unsafe products or "broader societal goals."

26. Justice Brennan addressed the issue in his concurrence to White Motor Co. In his
view, the suppression of competition between manufacturer and dealers for certain accounts
would be extremely difficult to support:

The crucial question to me is whether, in any meaningful sense, the distributors
could, but for the restrictions, compete with the manufacturer for the reserved
outlets. If they could, but are prevented from doing so only by the restrictions,
then in the absence of some justification neither presented nor suggested by this
record, their invaldidity would seem to be apparent.

372 U.S. 253, 272-73 (1963).
27. 405 U.S. 596 (1972).
28. The members possessed from 1.5% to 16% of the market shares in their respective

areas. The average possession was approximately 6%. 405 U.S. at 600.
29. Id. at 611-12.

1982] 1007
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that the vigor of interbrand competition is presumptively guaranteed by
the fact that one of the dealers participating in the horizontal allocation
is also a supplier, whereas, absent that single fact, interbrand competition
is conclusively insufficient. It seems clear that supplier-dealer restraints,
when the supplier and dealers are competing on the same level, can be
given rule of reason treatment only if the validity of Topco is in substan-
tial doubt or has been rejected altogether. The Fifth Circuit, however, has
concluded without a Topco decision that supplier participation at the
dealer level does not alter the standard rule of reason analysis.8 0

In summary, dealer termination suits based on distributional restraints
other than resale price maintenance would retain considerable vitality if
the rule of reason were liberally construed in the plaintiff's behalf and if a
supplier's competition at the dealer level triggered the per se rule. It must
be said that the Fifth Circuit delivered a virtual fusillade of opinions
against these hopes in 1981, and that it would be the intrepid dealer in-
deed who launched an antitrust attack against his supplier.

A. Nonprice Distributional Restraints

The court began the devastation with Red Diamond Supply, Inc. v.
Liquid Carbonic Corp. 1 Red Diamond was a distributor of industrial ga
products for Liquid Carbonic in the New Orleans area. There were twe
other distributors, including defendant Acme Welding, that sold theii

30. For other decisions dealing with the general problem of a supplier competing with
his dealers, see United States v. McKesson & Robbins, Inc., 351 U.S. 305, 311-16 (1956)
(drug manufacturer who competed "at the same functional level" with wholesalers, with
whom it had price-fixing agreements, was excluded from the exemptions of the Miller-Tyd.
ings and McGuire Acts); Krehl v. Baskin-Robbins Ice Cream Co., [1982] 5 TRADE REG. REP
(CCH) 64,449 (9th Cir.) (exclusive territories vertically imposed by franchisor who also
retained some territories for itself not per se illegal); Edwin K. Williams & Co. v. Edwin K
Williams & Co.-East, 542 F.2d 1053, 1061 (9th Cir. 1976), cert. denied, 433 U.S. 908 (1977)
(territorial allocations and restrictions on resale were not per se violations); American Motoi
Inns, Inc. v. Holiday Inns, Inc., 521 F.2d 1230, 1253-55 (3rd Cir. 1975) (the combined effect
of the company-town policy and the non-Holiday Inn clause was a basis for finding a hori.
zontal conspiracy and constituted an unreasonable restraint of trade); Fontana Aviation
Inc. v. Beech Aircraft Corp., 432 F.2d 1080, 1084-85 (7th Cir. 1970), cert. denied, 401 U.S
923 (1971) (remanded for jury consideration of evidence that various distributors hac
worked out a territorial division, tacitly approved by the manufacturer-distributor); In.
terphoto Corp. v. Minolta Corp., 295 F. Supp. 711 (S.D.N.Y. 1969), afl'd, 417 F.2d 621 (2c
Cir. 1969) (attempts at price fixing, territorial restrictions, and customer allocations held t(
be per se illegal); Re. Coca Cola Co., [1978] 3 TRADE REG. REP. (CCH) T 21,509 (becausf
restraints were in effect prior to Coca Cola's entry into bottling, the territorial restraintJ
involved were vertical restraints requiring the application of the rule of reason); Unitec
States v. CIBA GEIGY Corp., 11976] 1 TRADE CASES 60,908 (when a vertical restraint if
imposed in order to suppress horizontal competition, it is a per se violation).

31. 637 F.2d 1001 (5th Cir. 1981).
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products in the same area.3 2 Red Diamond alleged violations of the Sher-
man Act and the Louisiana Unfair Trade Practices Law3" based upon its
termination as a Liquid Carbonic dealer. Red Diamond claimed that it
was terminated for violating an allocation of customers and territories
among Liquid Carbonic and its dealers. The specific conspiracy alleged
was between Liquid Carbonic and Acme. 4 Red Diamond settled with
Liquid Carbonic and proceeded to trial against Acme. The jury found for
Acme on the Sherman Act claim, but returned a verdict for Red Diamond
on the Louisiana Unfair Trade Practices claim. The trial court, however,
granted judgment notwithstanding the verdict on the ground that there
was insufficient evidence of a conspiracy between Liquid Carbonic and
Acme.35 The Fifth Circuit held that since the Louisiana law tracked the
Sherman Act, and since there was no contrary state authority, it would
apply federal law to the state cause of action." It further held that it was
unnecessary to reach the trial court's determination that no conspiracy
existed because Red Diamond had failed to show that its termination,
even if pursuant to an agreement, had violated the Sherman Act.3 7

The court first addressed the characterization problem. It held that if
the manufacturer is the source of territorial and customer restrictions, the
restraints are vertical, and the result is not changed by the manufac-
turer's competition with its own distributors.3 " The court reasoned that

32. The third distributor was not named as a defendant in the suit.
33. LA. REV. STAT. ANN. § 51-1405 (West Supp. 1982).
34. Red Diamond also alleged a conspiracy on the national level among Liquid Carbonic

and other manufacturers of industrial gases to restrict competition among themselves. The
alleged conspiracy was effectuated by restricting competition among the manufacturers' dis-
tributors. The court did not address this claim because Red Diamond settled with Liquid
Carbonic prior to trial.

35. The district court had instructed the jury that if a conspiracy existed, it was horizon-
tal because Liquid Carbonic sold some of its products directly to customers in competition
with its distributors. The Fifth Circuit's opinion does not reveal why the district court con-
sidered the evidence of conspiracy insufficient. The trial court could have found that there
was no agreement among Liquid Carbonic and its distributors to allocate customers and
territories. Perhaps Red Diamond did not rely on the territorial agreements as the unlawful
conspiracy, but rather on a specific conspiracy between Acme and Liquid Carbonic based on
Acme's reporting of a violation by Red Diamond to Liquid Carbonic. This theory would
have been an attempt to bring the case within the group boycott doctrine. See decisions
discussed note 60 infra. If this was Red Diamond's theory, the trial court could have found
that Acme did not engage in reporting activity.

36. 637 F.2d at 1003.
37. Id. at 1003-04.
38. The court quoted with approval the following passage from H & B Equip. Co. v. Int'l

Harvester Co., 577 F.2d 239, 245 (5th Cir. 1978):
"Conspiracies between a manufacturer and its distributors are only treated as hor-
izontal... when the source of the conspiracy is a combination of the distributors.
United States v. Arnold, Schwinn & Co., 388 U.S. 365, 372-73, 87 S. Ct. 1856,



MERCER LAW REVIEW

the source of the restrictions was not simply a formalistic distinction;
rather, the distinction had economic significance because a horizontal
conspiracy formed at the dealer level results in a higher price and lower
volume, thus injuring both consumers and the manufacturer. When the
manufacturer is the source of the restrictions, on the other hand, it is
assumed to be motivated by a desire to increase total volume by increas-
ing interbrand competition."

Assuming the manufacturer or supplier-imposed restrictions have some
competitive benefits in some contexts, the central issue may be whether
the manufacturer or supplier should be forced to choose between partial
vertical integration (which may create certain efficiencies and improve in-
terbrand competition) and the manufacturer's or supplier's own system of
vertical restraints. A per se rule of illegality would force this choice. Ar-
guably the pernicious anticompetitive consequences are not so obvious or
so pervasively present to require such a result. Of course, the defendants
in Topco were forced to choose between the efficiencies created by their
joint venture and the interbrand competitive benefita conferred by their
exclusive location clauses.40

One further point should be made. Many of the typical economic justi-
fications for vertical restraints (stimulating dealer promotional activities
and service and promoting market penetration, for example)4" would be
equally applicable to the manufacturer who is also a dealer. If, therefore,
the manufacturer-dealer is participating in a system-wide distribution
program on an equal basis with other dealers, there would seem to be
good reason for treating the issue on the same basis as any other vertical
restraint. When, however, the manufacturer has simply carved out certain
profitable accounts for itself, the competitive justifications are not the
same as for restraints of system-wide applicability. In such cases, as Jus-
tice Brennan indicated in White Motor Co. v. United States,42 the courts
might exercise a more careful scrutiny and impose a stricter version of the
rule of reason.

This analysis leads to an examination of the application of the rule of
reason in Red Diamond. The court held that judgment notwithstanding
the verdict was properly entered against the plaintiff:

[1862, 63] 18 L. Ed. 2d 1249 (1967); cf. Posner, The Rule of Reason and the Eco-
nomic Approach: Reflections on the Sylvania Decision, 45 U. Chi. L. Rev. 1, 17
(1977) (condemning distributor cartels)."

637 F.2d at 1004 (emphasis added).
39. 637 F.2d at 1004 n.4.
40. Regarding the relevance of Topco, the court in Red Diamond said only that Topco

was a horizontal case and therefore not relevant to the case before it, which the court had
determined to be "vertical." 637 F.2d at 1005.

41. See ABA MONOGRAPH No. 2, supra note 15, at 67-71.
42. 372 U.S. 253 (1963); see note 26 supra.
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In order to prevail under the rule of reason, a plaintiff must show that
the defendants' conduct has an adverse effect on competition. . . . This
Red Diamond failed-and did not even seriously attempt-to do. While
the restrictions it alleged presumably would reduce intrabrand compe-
titon, i.e., competition among Liquid's distributors, to some extent, this
presumptive effect by itself is not sufficient to establish injury to compe-
tition for several reasons. . . .The record strongly suggests that there
was significant interbrand competition in industrial gas products in the
New Orleans area. The products themselves . . . were readily substitut-
able for each other. . . .Red Diamond . . . did not produce market
share data to support an inference that the market, despite the number
of firms, was in fact concentrated. It did not even introduce Liquid's
market share to suggest that Liquid's intrabrand restrictions might have
had an effect on interbrand competition in the market.43

The court further observed that since Liquid Carbonic could have verti-
cally integrated to the dealer level, its restraints were lawful:

If Liquid had thus vertically integrated into distributing, it clearly could
have instructed its employees to abide by territorial and customer re-
strictions. And since Liquid could have accomplished these ends by ei-
ther internal expansion or merger, either of which would have had an
even greater impact on intrabrand competition, we fail to see why it
would have been unreasonable for Liquid to accomplish the same ends
by contract. . . .To hold otherwise would in general simply create "an
incentive for vertical integration into the distribution system, thereby
eliminating to that extent the role of independent businessmen."4

There was apparently no meaningful evidence supporting the competitive

benefits of the customer and territorial restraints, and it is not stated
whether Liquid Carbonic simply reserved the most profitable accounts for
itself. Nevertheless, the court presumed that some such benefits could ex-
ist hypothetically, and since plaintiff had failed to show a concentrated
market, this presumption was enough:

Not only does the record not demonstrate that the alleged restrictions
harmed interbrand competition; it suggests that they may have improved
it. Because each manufacturer's products are virtually indistinguishable
structurally, service is an important basis upon which the firms can com-
pete, and Liquid could well have decided that confining each of its dis-
tributors to a particular area or type of customer would enable them
more effectively to service their customers and thus would increase the
demand for Liquid's goods.45

43. 637 F.2d at 1005-06 (citations omitted).
44. Id. at 1007 (quoting Continental T.V., 433 U.S. at 57 n.26).
45. Id. at 1006.
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The Fifth Circuit, then, rather clearly adopted and applied a version of
the rule of reason favorable to defendants. The court assumed that com-
petitive benefits would obtain and placed the burden on the plaintiff to
prove the absence of significant interbrand competition." The court said
a reduction (or presumably an elimination) of intrabrand competition
standing alone is insignificant and strongly suggested that plaintiff could
not succeed without economic proof of a concentrated relevant market
and a showing of a large market share possessed by defendant.,7 Finally,
the court indicated that any vertical restraint would be lawful if the man-
ufacturer could lawfully vertically integrate to the dealer level.48

Unfortunately, the Red Diamond rule of reason was applied in a
branded product market in Muenster Butane, Inc. v. Stewart Co.49

Muenster Butane was the franchised Zenith dealer in Muenster, Texas.
Heffley TV had the Zenith dealership in Gainesville, Texas, fourteen
miles from Muenster. Muenster Butane opened a store in Gainesville and
began selling Zenith television sets in competition with Heffley. According
to the court, "Relations between Muenster Butane and Heffley T.V. dete-
riorated, and competitive pricing of Zeniths became fierce."'50 Heffley
complained to its supplier, Stewart Company, which was the wholesaler
of Zenith television sets for the Texas region that included Muenster and
Gainesville. Stewart attempted to mediate the dispute between Muenster
Butane and Heffley, first by suggesting that Muenster Butane sell only
from a catalogue and then by suggesting that Muenster Butane sell mod-
els different from those sold by Heffley. These efforts failed to curtail the
competition, however, and finally Stewart "terminated its franchise rela-
tionship with Muenster Butane in Gainesville and in Muenster.""

Muenster Butane sued Stewart under section 1 of the Sherman Act and
was successful at trial. The jury awarded $50,000 damages (trebled to
$150,000) plus $20,000 attorneys' fees. The Fifth Circuit reversed and
found that as a matter of law under GTE Sylvania no actionable re-

46. Id. at 1005.
47. Id. at 1005-06.
48. This may have been just another way of saying that a plaintiff must prove both a

concentrated interbrand market and a defendant with a significant market share, since a
vertical merger in this context would probably violate section 7 of the Clayton Act, 15
U.S.C. § 18 (1976 & Supp. IV 1980). Ford Motor Co. v. United States, 405 U.S. 562 (1972);
Brown Shoe Co. v. United States, 370 U.S. 294 (1962). The possibility of vertical mergers,
however, was explicitly said to be irrelevant to the legality of exclusive dealing contracts in
Standard Oil Co. v. United States, 337 U.S. 293, 310-11 (1949). Nor has the possibility of
vertical merger justified the resale price maintenance programs of major gasoline companies.
Simpson v. Union Oil Co., 377 U.S. 13 (1964).

49. 651 F.2d 292 (5th Cir. 1981).
50. Id. at 294.
51. Id. at 294-95.
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straint had occurred. Citing Red Diamond and other Fifth Circuit deci-
sions, the court held that if "interbrand competition was still vigorous,
termination of a dealer is insufficient to support a Sherman Act viola-
tion."'" The court then added:

A leading commentator on vertical restraints has suggested that proof of
the antitrust defendant's "substantial" market power should be a prelim-
inary hurdle in all restricted distribution (vertical restraint) cases. "[I]f a
firm lacks market power, it cannot affect the price of its product," and
thus any vertical restraint could not be anticompetitive at the interbrand
level....

A requirement that plaintiff prove market power in this case would
have saved the litigants and the courts much expense. Stewart (or
Zenith) had no market power in Gainesville. The market was highly com-
petitive. Whatever vertical restraints Stewart imposed on its dealers,
their effect could not have been to raise the price consumers paid for
television sets.58

This conclusion, however, is in conflict with the facts of the case. Hef-
fley desired to rid himself of Muenster Butane because "competitive pric-
ing of Zeniths became fierce."'" The Stewart Company exerted considera-
ble effort to eliminate this price competition, first urging Muenster
Butane to sell only from a catalogue and then attempting to persuade
Muenster Butane to sell different Zenith models. 8 It strains credulity to
accept that Stewart was attempting to increase interbrand competition by
stimulating dealer promotional efforts or market penetration. Nothing in
the opinion indicated that Stewart (or Zenith) had a marketing scheme
adopted to increase interbrand competition through planned vertical re-
straints. 6 The court mentioned only one justification for the termina-
tion: "Heffley . . . ceased to complain, but intense competitive pricing
continued between the stores. Heffley discontinued most of his advertis-
ing because Muenster Butane would run similar ads, underselling Heffley,

52. Id. at 298.
53. Id. (citing Posner, The Next Step in the Antitrust Treatment of Restricted Distri-

bution: Per Se Legality, 48 U. CHI. L. REv. 6, 16 (1981)).
54. Id. at 294.
55. Id.
56. It is possible that the Stewart Company had some restraints of general applicability

to its retailers, but the opinion states only that "Muenster Butane was an authorized,
franchised Zenith dealer for the town of Muenster, Texas. . . ." 651 F.2d at 293. The opin-
ion does not state that Muenster Butane and other dealers were contractually limited to
sales of Zenith sets from certain locations, nor does it state that Muenster Butane was ter-
minated for violation of a location clause. Indeed, if such location clauses existed, they could
not have been enforced by Stewart alone since the opinion states that "Muenster Butane
has continued to sell Zeniths, purchased from another supplier, at both locations." Id. at
295.
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or would post Heffley's own ads in its windows with the prices reduced by
$25." ' The court said that this practice was "free riding" on the promo-
tional efforts of Heffiey.s s As traditionally understood, free riding occurs
when the discount dealer benefits from the advertisements and promo-
tional services of the carriage trade dealer that stimulate consumer de-
mand for the product." Most potential purchasers would consider Muen-
ster Butane's window advertising to be its own particularly effective
promotional effort to emphasize that its prices were twenty-five dollars
below Heffley's.

The conclusion seems inescapable that no matter how intense the inter-
brand competition in the Gainesville television market was, the price of
Zeniths went up when Muenster Butane stopped competing with Hef-
fley. s° Given this reality, Stewart certainly should have had the burden to
produce some evidence that the termination of Muenster Butane was
pursuant to a comprehensive marketing strategy designed to improve
Zenith's competitive position and not just to protect Heffley from fierce
price competition.

The court's reasoning in Red Diamond was also followed in Abadir &
Co. v. First Mississippi Corp.61 Abadir had a contract to purchase urea
from First Mississippi. After entering into the contract, First Mississippi
imposed a territorial restriction on Abadir requiring the latter to resell
the urea only for consumption in Asia." First Mississippi was not actually
a producer of urea, however. Eighty percent of the urea that First Missis-
sippi sold came from a joint venture (Triad Chemicals) in which First
Mississippi had a fifty percent interest. Twenty percent of the urea that
it sold came from another independent producer. Notwithstanding this,

57. 651 F.2d at 294.
58. Id. at 297.
59. See Posner, Antitrust Policy and the Supreme Court: An Analysis of the Re-

stricted Distribution, Horizontal Merger and Potential Competition Decisions, 75 COLUM.
L. REV. 282, 285 (1975).

60. This case is very similar to, if not indistinguishable from, Cernuto, Inc. v. United
Cabinet Corp., 595 F.2d 164 (3d Cir. 1979), in which the court held that a per se violation
occurs when a supplier terminates one dealer to protect another from price competition,
rather than as a result of a unilaterally adopted marketing strategy. See also Eiberger v.
Sony Corp. of Am., 459 F. Supp. 1276 (S.D.N.Y. 1978), affd on other grounds, 622 F.2d
1068 (2d Cir. 1980). Compare Ron Tonkin Gran Turismo, Inc. v. Fiat Distrib., 637 F.2d 1376
(9th Cir. 1981).

61. 651 F.2d 422 (5th Cir. 1981).
62. The Fifth Circuit held that Abadir's testimony that he had acquiesced in defendant's

requirement was sufficient to prove that a market-dividing agreement existed. 651 F.2d at
424. The court did not mention that the termination, not the agreement, was the cause of
Abadir's injury. The court therefore impliedly accepted the suggestion in Albrecht v. Herald
Co., 390 U.S. 145, 150 n.6 (1968), that the required combination may be found between the
dealer and the supplier if the dealer "unwillingly complied."
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the court held that the territorial restriction was vertical and thus subject
to the rule of reason. 3 The court reached this conclusion by discussing
the various procompetitive reasons a manufacturer might have for impos-
ing exclusive territories on its distributors. These reasons include the fol-
lowing: "[A]ttracting competent and aggressive retailers, inducing retail-
ers to engage in promotional activities, market-distribution efficiency, and
maintaining control over the safety and quality of the product."' 4 The
court observed that since First Mississippi had a fifty percent interest in
the producing joint venture, its "interests [were] indistinguishable from
the ordinary interests of a manufacturer.""5 The court then stated:

Not all of the legitimate potential economic advantages noted in Syl-
vania apply with the same force to this case. First Mississippi may have
less interest in encouraging promotional activity because there is no
brand identification of urea and those normal market factors encouraging
a supplier to let its distributors compete are less effective to the extent
that First Mississippi also competes as a distributor. But both of these
factors were present in Red Diamond. The agreement is nonetheless
treated as vertical.66

The court, therefore, recognized that the fungible nature of urea cast
considerable doubt on the procompetitive purpose and effect of First Mis-
sissippi's territorial restriction. The court's answer was to cite Red Dia-
mond, which in turn had simply declared that supplier-imposed restric-
tions are vertical because dealers are "agents" of their suppliers.6 " Once
again there was no attempt to distinguish Topco persuasively on its
merits."

Assuming that under Topco a "horizontal" market or customer division
is illegal per se, regardless of the market share possessed by the agreeing
defendants and the vigor of interbrand competition, the best way to ap-
proach fact situations such as those in Abadir & Co. and Red Diamond
would be to scrutinize carefully the purpose of the manufacturer. If the
plaintiff demonstrated that the restriction eliminates or seriously impairs
competition between the manufacturer and his dealers, the burden should

63. The court reversed the judgment below in favor of Abadir. The district court had
instructed the jury that if the agreement existed, it was per se illegal. The parties stipulated
that if the district court had erred, the case should not be retried under the rule of reason.
651 F.2d at 429.

64. Id. at 427.
65. Id.
66. Id.
67. See Hobart Bros. v. Malcolm T. Gilliland, Inc., 471 F.2d 894 (5th Cir. 1973).
68. The only mention of Topco in Red Diamond is a citation following the statement

that "a nominally vertical arrangement may in fact be a horizontal one in disguise." 637
F.2d at 1005.
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be on the defendant to introduce significant probative evidence that the
market division is part of a general distribution strategy in which the de-
fendant is participating on the same basis as other dealers. This would
make the restraint vertical in nature and not penalize the manufacturer
for partial vertical integration. The court in Abadir treated the issue
with its observation that: "By requiring distributors to sell exclusively
in various parts of the world, First Mississippi could provide itself with a
year-round market and avoid both a seasonal production schedule and
stockpiling problems. Pursuing production efficiency is wholly consistent
with the purposes of the Sherman Act." 6' The opinion does not mention
any evidence offered by First Mississippi tending to show that its produc-
tion efficiency was reduced before it forced Abadir to sell only in Asia, or
even that First Mississippi had systematically parceled out the various
seasons among a group of its dealers. The opinion also does not discuss
how much of its output First Mississippi sold itself or in what seasonal
markets it sold. On the whole, the above reasoning seems somewhat spec-
ulative and leaves one less than satisfied regarding First Mississippi's
purpose in confining Abadir to Asia.

Absent substantial probative evidence that the purpose of such restric-
tions is procompetitive, they should be per se illegal because of their hori-
zontal nature. If, however, an examination of purpose shows that the sup-
plier or manufacturer is, indeed, just one dealer participating in a
systemwide marketing strategy designed to improve its interbrand com-
petitive position, then the probable effects of the restraints should be
evaluated under some version of the rule of reason.

B. Resale Price Maintenance

In Joe Regueira, Inc. v. American Distilling Co.,7 0 the Fifth Circuit up-
held summary judgment for the defendant in a resale price maintenance
case. Plaintiff Regueira was a wholesale distributor of alcoholic beverages
for American Distilling, the manufacturer. Plaintiff alleged that his deal-
ership was terminated because of a conspiracy between American Distil-
ling and another wholesaler (a subsidiary of National Distillers of At-
lanta) to effectuate a resale price maintenance scheme. The court
affirmed the summary judgment because plaintiff was unable to offer any
evidence tending to show an unlawful combination between American
Distilling and the other wholesaler to fix wholesale and retail prices. De-
fendant had offered specific affidavits showing that plaintiffs dealership
was cancelled because of late payments on plaintiff's accounts and the

69. 651 F.2d at 427.
70. 642 F.2d 826 (5th Cir. 1981).
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court found that these affidavits were unrebutted.7
1

As discussed previously," Regueira could have alleged that the unlaw-
ful combination was between itself and defendant, American Distilling, as
of the time Regueira unwillingly acquiesced in the scheme. There was
some evidence to support such a claim.7 3  The court held, however, that
even if Regueira had relied on this combination, it had offered no sub-
stantial probative evidence showing that its termination was caused by a
violation of the resale price maintenance scheme. 7 '

C. Tying Violations

In Bob Maxfield, Inc. v. American Motors Corp.,75 plaintiff sued AMC
under section 1 of the Sherman Act and section 3 of the Clayton Act and
alleged unlawful tie-in and full-line forcing violations. Plaintiff claimed
that AMC required it to accept a quota of undesirable larger cars (Am-
bassadors and Matadors) in order to receive the more desirable smaller
models (Gremlins and Hornets). Plaintiff also alleged a violation of the
Automobile Dealers Act.76 The district court granted a directed verdict in

71. Plaintiff's account was overdue in the sum of $82,377.13 prior to termination. Al-
though plaintiff apparently had been making late payments for over five years, the court
found that delinquency in payment was nevertheless a credible reason for termination since
defendant's affidavits claimed that recent financial difficulty had forced it to reassess its
tolerance for late payment. 642 F.2d at 832 n.13.

72. See text accompanying notes 5-10 and note 62 supra.
73. The court stated as follows:

Regueira relies on the affidavit of its President who alleges that American
threatened Regueira with termination if it did not resell at specific high prices and
that American conditioned significant depletion allowances for two brands on Re-
gueira only selling to the major retailers that sold at certain prices. Although this
evidence may be sufficient to show an unlawful combination between Regueira
and American prior to the termination, it does not show that Regueira's termina-
tion was the result of a combination between American and National to fix whole-
sale and retail prices.

642 F.2d at 832 (footnotes omitted).
74. Id. at 833.
75. 637 F.2d 1033 (5th Cir. 1981).
76. 15 U.S.C. §§ 1221-25 (1976). Plaintiff also attempted to amend its complaint to in-

clude an exclusive dealing count. The district court refused to allow this amendment on the
ground that it was offered one month prior to trial and AMC did not have an opportunity to
conduct the pertinent discovery. The Fifth Circuit upheld the district court's refusal. It
noted that under Tampa Elec. Co. v. Nashville Coal Co., 365 U.S. 320 (1961), exclusive
dealing is unlawful only if it forecloses competition in a substantial portion of the line of
commerce affected. AMC had been deprived of the opportunity to determine whether plain-
tiff would have sought another dealership but for the exclusive dealing requirement,
whether he could have obtained one, and the price at which he could have obtained it. The
court said that in order for plaintiff to have shown any effect on competition, it would have
been required to show "at least some likelihood that [plaintiff] would have sought and ob-
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favor of defendant on all claims and the Fifth Circuit affirmed.
The court began its discussion of the merits by setting forth the re-

quirements for an unlawful tying arrangement. The court said that in or-
der to prevail, a plaintiff must show that two separate products are in-
volved, that the seller has "sufficient market power in the tying market to
coerce purchase of the tied product,"7 and that there exists "involvement
of a not insubstantial amount of interstate commerce in the tied mar-
ket. '7'  The Supreme Court has established these elements as necessary
to a per se case.79 The Fifth Circuit added as a fourth requirement, how-
ever, that the plaintiff must also prove "anticompetitive effects in the tied
market,"' citing as general authority its decision in Driskill v. Dallas
Cowboys Football Club.8"

This fourth requirement, if taken at face value, could introduce an ex-
tremely burdensome element into tying cases. The Supreme Court deci-
sions have established that an anticompetitive effect in the tied market
would be presumed if it were shown that a not insubstantial amount of
commerce in that market was foreclosed. The foreclosure has been mea-
sured in dollars rather than market share.82 The Driskill decision con-
cerned a claim that the Dallas Cowboys were unlawfully tying the sale of
regular season tickets (the tying product) to the sale of preseason exhibi-
tion tickets and low-interest stadium bonds (the tied products). The
court stated that anticompetitive effects had to be shown in the tied mar-
ket and since the Dallas Cowboys had a monopoly in the preseason pro-
fessional football market, no competitive injury could be shown." If Dris-
kill is read to mean only that coercion of the buyer, standing alone, is an

tained a dealership from one of AMC's competitors." 637 F.2d at 1036.
77. 637 F.2d at 1037.
78. Id.
79. United States Steel Corp. v. Fortner Enterprises, Inc., 429 U.S. 610 (1977).
80. 637 F.2d at 1037.
81. 498 F.2d 321, 323 (5th Cir. 1974).
82. The Supreme Court in Fortner Enterprises, Inc. v. United States Steel Corp., 394

U.S. 494 (1969), indicated that $190,000 would not be "insubstantial" and stated:
It may be true, as respondents claim, that petitioner's annual purchases of houses
from U.S. Steel under the tying arrangement never exceeded $190,000, while more
than $500,000 in annual sales was involved in the tying arrangement held illegal in
International Salt, but we cannot agree with respondents that a sum of almost
$200,000 is paltry or "insubstantial."

394 U.S. at 501-02.
83. Driskill relied on Coniglio v. Highwood Servs., Inc., 495 F.2d 1286 (2d Cir. 1974),

which concerned the tying of Buffalo Bills preseason tickets to season tickets. The court in
Coniglio similarly held that no anticompetitive impact could be found in the tied market
because of the monopoly enjoyed by the Bills. Coniglio found this monopoly by restricting
the tied market to exhibition professional football games rather than expanding it to the
"general entertainment market in Buffalo." Id. at 1292.
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insufficient basis for a tying violation and that there must also be some
foreclosure of competitors in the tied market, it is perhaps unexceptional.
In most markets, there will be some competition." ' It may be, however,
that the Fifth Circuit meant to say that the plaintiff must prove an actual
injury to competition in the tied market. This is certainly at odds with
the Supreme Court decisions that have required only a foreclosure of a
not insubstantial dollar amount in the tied product. 5

The troublesome aspect of Driskill regards the tying of season tickets
to low-interest stadium bonds. It could scarcely be contended that the
Dallas Cowboys had monopoly power in the money market. The court
noted that the bonds cost $250 each, and that season ticket holders ac-
counted for approximately half of the seating capacity of the stadium.8 6

Assuming there were 30,000 season tickets, this would amount to a fore-
closure of $7;400,000 to banks and other borrowers. This would not be an
insubstantial amount, and an anticompetitive effect could have been pre-
sumed. Nonetheless, the court said, "Driskill failed to forestall summary
judgment . . . by failing to assert specific facts tending to show . . . any
competitive effect in the tied market for long-term bonds. '87 Thus, the
quantitative substantiality of the foreclosure apparently was insufficient.

Although the "anticompetitive effect" requirement did not enter into
the decision in Bob Maxfield, it is troublesome that the court would cite
it as a requirement in a case in which there clearly was competition in the
tied market (that is, the large car market). This implies that the part of
the Driskill decision dealing with the bonds may indeed have been
significant.

The court affirmed the summary judgment in favor of AMC on the ty-
ing claim on the ground that Maxfield was unable to prove the existence
of a tie. The court admitted that AMC exercised considerable persuasion
and encouragement on Maxfield to take a suggested number of big cars.
AMC's activities never amounted to coercion, however. The court ex-
plained the situation as follows:

Viewing the record in the light most favorable to Maxfield, we can see
that AMC's representatives tried vigorously to sell big cars to Maxfield.
On numerous occasions they "informed" Bob Maxfield or his sales man-
ager of the numbers of each model they wanted Maxfield to buy. They
"persuaded" or "encouraged" Maxfield to take the suggested number of

84. Consider, however, the fact that in Coniglio the court restricted the market to "exhi-
bition professional football games," an extremely. restrictive definition that eliminated other
arguably competing sellers of entertainment such as regular season baseball. 495 F.2d at
1292.

85. See, e.g., Fortner Enterprises, Inc. v. United States Steel Corp., 394 U.S. 494 (1969).
86. 498 F.2d at 323.
87. Id.
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big cars, and they sometimes became angry when he refused. On one oc-
casion an AMC representative ordered Ambassadors on Maxfield's be-
half, without its consent. (Maxfield refused delivery.) Another time a
representative talked Maxfield into taking big cars by promising to
"move them away" if they did not sell-a promise not kept. AMC's pol-
icy was to persuade all of its dealers to take the full line, and there were
strong job incentives for AMC management personnel to carry out that
policy. What is entirely missing from this list of horrors, however, is any
evidence that AMC ever required Maxfield to take large cars or face a
cutoff of small cars.8'

Although Maxfield was able to show that after it had refused to buy the
required big cars AMC had cancelled orders for small cars, the court
found that Maxfield was unable to show any causal connection between
these two events. The court said, "[A]ccording to AMC's uncontradicted
evidence, the reason for Maxfield's. difficulty in obtaining Gremlins and
Hornets was that there was a nationwide shortage of them."'

The court relied upon Response of Carolina, Inc. v. Leasco Response,
Inc."° in order to resolve the coercion issue. Response of Carolina estab-
lished that coercion will not be presumed simply on the basis of proof
that the seller had substantial economic power in the tying product and
that two products were sold together. The court held that the tie-in could
be proved either by a contractual requirement or proof that the buyer
was coerced to take the tied product." The court found no coercion in
Response of Carolina, but the evidence in that case was considerably
weaker than in Bob Maxfield. The crucial point in Bob Maxfield was not
whether coercion is required for a tying violation, but whether the evi-
dence introduced by plaintiff was sufficient to create a jury question on
the coercion issue. Arguably, plaintiff's evidence of considerable persua-
sion and encouragement to take the large cars, combined with the "strong
job incentives for AMC management personnel to carry out [a full line]
policy"'92 and the cancelling of small car orders by AMC was sufficient to
create a jury question."

88. 637 F.2d at 1037 (emphasis in original) (footnote omitted).
89. 637 F.2d at 1038.
90. 537 F.2d 1307 (5th Cir. 1976).
91. Id. at 1325-26.
92. 637 F.2d at 1037.
93. See, e.g., FTC v. Texaco, Inc., 393 U.S. 223, 227-29 (1968). Compare Ungar v. Dun-

kin' Donuts of America, Inc., 531 F.2d 1211 (3rd Cir. 1976).
The court in Bob Maxfield also upheld the trial court's directed verdict on Maxfield's

claim under section 2 of 'the Automobile Dealers Act. The court said that the essence of the
cause of action under this statute was coercion, just as it was with the tying violation. The
court concluded as follows:

Maxfield's primary allegation under the Dealers Act is the same as its antitrust

1020 [Vol. 33
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D. Directed Verdict-Requirement that Trial Court State Rea-
sons-Must Address the Substantive Violation Before Damages

In Jot-Em-Down Store (JEDS) Inc. v. Cotter & Co.," the trial court
granted a directed verdict for defendant without giving its reasons for
doing so. The Fifth Circuit reversed and remanded for a statement of
reasons by the trial court. The court noted that although the Federal
Rules of Civil Procedure do not require a statement of reasons to support
the grant of a motion to dismiss, summary judgment, or directed verdict,
"we have often stated that a reasoned statement is helpful not only to
counsel but also to the appellate court.' 'ss The Fifth Circuit relied upon
the Supreme Court's recent decision in J. Truett Payne Co. v. Chrysler
Motors Corp.96 for the proposition that whenever a directed verdict is
granted because of speculative proof of damages, it is first necessary to
determine whether the plaintiff has established both an antitrust viola-
tion and the fact of injury. 7 The Fifth Circuit, therefore, remanded to

allegation: AMC coerced it into buying Ambassadors and Matadors it did not
want. As we held with regard to the antitrust complaint, there is no substantial
evidence that AMC used any coercion, intimidation, or threats against Maxfield to
force it to take big cars.

637 F.2d at 1039. This holding is more questionable than the court's decision on the tying
violation. Maxfield certainly introduced considerable evidence which would at least permit
the inference that he was coerced into taking the larger cars. With respect to tying, the
court concluded that Maxfield failed to demonstrate that the coercion took the form of
conditioning receipt of small cars on the purchase of large cars. Maxfield's only proof on
this point was the cancellation of small car orders following his failure to take the requisite
number of large cars. The Automobile Dealers Act cause of action, however, would not re-
quire proof of the coercive device of tying small cars to large cars, but only proof that Max-
field was coerced into taking the large cars.

94. 651 F.2d 245 (5th Cir. 1981).
95. Id. at 247 (citing, inter alia, Williamson v. Tucker, 632 F.2d 579, 585-87 (5th Cir.

1980)).
96. 451 U.S. 557 (1981).
97. In J. Truett Payne, the court of appeals held that it was unnecessary to consider

whether plaintiff had proven a Robinson-Patman violation since its proof of the fact of in-
jury and damages was impermissibly speculative. In the Supreme Court, plaintiff argued
that its evidence on these points was sufficient "in light of [the Court's] traditional rule
excusing antitrust plaintiffs from an unduly rigorous standard of proving antitrust injury."
451 U.S. at 565. The Court recognized that this rule existed, but it depended "in greater or
lesser part on the inequity of a wrongdoer defeating the recovery of damages against him by
insisting upon a rigorous standard of proof." Id. at 568. Since the court of appeals had not
determined whether a substantive violation of the Robinson-Patman Act had occurred, the
Supreme Court was unable to determine whether the less rigorous standard applicable to
the fact of injury and damages should apply. The Court, therefore, remanded to the court of
appeals for further proceedings.

The interesting aspect of J. Truett Payne is the blurring of the distinction between the
proof of fact of injury and the proof of the amount of damages. The Fifth Circuit repeatedly.
has accepted the proposition that proof of amount of damages may "border on the specula-
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the district court to make findings on the antitrust violation and the fact
of injury. 8

E. The Business of Insurance Exemption

In Thompson v. New York Life Insurance Co.,99 the Fifth Circuit af-
firmed a summary judgment for the defendant in a dealer termination
suit. Plaintiff was an agent of the New York Life Insurance Company. He
entered into an optional agency contract in which, in return for additional
incentive commissions, he agreed "not [to] engage in any other business
or occupation for remuneration or profit" and "not [to] represent any
other insurance company."'100 The contract required plaintiff to write at
least $50,000 of new insurance each year. Plaintiff opened a large motel
and restaurant complex and began to devote a substantial amount of time
to the management of this business. The new insurance that he wrote fell
below the $50,000 minimum and his agency contract was terminated.
Plaintiff contended that the "restriction regarding outside employment
constituted a per se violation of section 1 of the Sherman Act, since it
prohibited the acceptance of more competitive offers for the purchase of
his entrepreneurial services."1 1 The court affirmed summary judgment
for defendant, however, on the ground that the contract restriction was
within the "business of insurance" and thus exempt from antitrust scru-
tiny under section 2 of the McCarran-Ferguson Act.102 The court recog-
nized that not all restrictions in insurance agency contracts are exempted
by the Act. 0 3 It said that in this case, however, the restriction had a suffi-

tive." See, e.g., Malcolm v. Marathon Oil Co., 642 F.2d 845 (5th Cir. 1981). The court has
not taken a similar position regarding proof of the fact of injury. For example, in Jot-Em-
Down Store the court stated that, "the amount of damage, like injury and causation, must
be proved by sufficient evidence, but lesser certainty is required." 651 F.2d at 248 (citation
omitted). To apply the liberal standard of proof to the fact of injury as well as to the
amount of damages would therefore be an innovation.

98. The facts of Jot-Em-Down Store, as recounted in the Fifth Circuit's opinion, are
virtually identical to those of United States v. Topco Assocs., 405 U.S. 596 (1972). The
defendant in Jot-Em-Down Store was a dealer-owned corporation that owned certain trade-
marks and aggregated the purchases of its member dealers to buy in large volume. Plaintiff
alleged numerous violations under section 1 of the Sherman Act. The allegations included
tying, exclusive dealing, territorial restrictions, customer restrictions, and resale price main-
tenance. Since the dealer-owned association undoubtedly would be treated as horizontal
under Topco, plaintiff's problems of proof would have centered on proving the restrictions
and proving a causal relationship between his violation of the restrictions and termination.

99. 644 F.2d 439 (5th Cir. 1981).
100. Id. at 441.
101. Id.
102. 15 U.S.C. § 1012 (1976).
103. The court cited Zelson v. Phoenix Mut. Life Ins. Co., 549 F.2d 62 (8th Cir. 1977), in

which an insurance company requirement that agents provide security services was held not
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cient "bearing on the core relation between insurer and insured," and
"did not force appellant to engage in activities unrelated to insurance,"104
so that it was exempted from antitrust scrutiny. 5

III. CIRCUMSTANTIAL PROOF OF CONSPIRACY

A. Group Boycott

In Pan-Islamic Trade Corp. v. Exxon Corp.,' Pan-Islamic alleged that
a conspiracy existed among a number of oil refining companies to refuse
to purchase Algerian crude oil owned by Pan-Islamic. The Fifth Circuit
affirmed summary judgment in favor of defendants.

Pan-Islamic contracted with Algeria in 1971 to purchase a large quanti-
ty of crude oil. At the time the contract was made, Pan-Islamic had no
firm purchasers for the oil. It had contacted a number of oil refining com-
panies, which had refused to purchase the oil, and Pan-Islamic was subse-
quently unable to sell the oil at a price above its contract price with Alge-
ria. It claimed the refining companies' refusal was the result of a French-
sponsored boycott of Algerian crude in response to the Algerian govern-
ment's partial nationalization of French oil interests in Algeria. The
court, however, found no significant probative evidence of a boycott.

The court recognized that summary judgment should be used sparingly
in antitrust litigation,10 7 but relied upon First National Bank v. Cities
Service Co.'08 for the proposition that "[w]hen faced with defendants'
sworn denial of the existence of a conspiracy, it is incumbent upon the
plaintiff to produce significant probative evidence demonstrating that a

to be the "business of insurance." 644 F.2d at 444.
104. 644 F.2d at 444.
105. The interesting question posed by this decision, which the court did not reach be-

cause of its insurance exemption ruling, is the extent to which an exclusive dealing type
contract may foreclose the dealer from other activities. For example, may a supplier insist
that the dealer, who is authorized to sell exclusively from one location, not sell competing
products from any other location of the United States? Presumably, given the court's other
rule of reason decisions, a terminated dealer-plaintiff would have to show that the restric-
tion unduly diminished interbrand competition in order to shift the burden to the defen-
dant to justify the restriction as necessary to improve its interbrand competitive position. If
this is true, it would seem that had Thompson succeeded in convincing the court that the
restriction in his agency contract was not within the business of insurance exemption, he
still would have faced the extremely difficult hurdle of demonstrating that his exclusion
from the motel and restaurant business in Atlanta had an objectionable anticompetitive
effect in that market.

106. 632 F.2d 539 (5th Cir. 1980).
107. Plaintiff had relied heavily on Poller v. CBS, Inc:, 368 U.S. 464 (1962), for this

proposition.
108. 391 U.S. 253 (1968).
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genuine issue of fact exists as to this element of the complaint."'"9 Th
court found that Pan-Islamic could not satisfy this standard. Regardin
the claimed French-sponsored boycott, the court dismissed most of plain
tiff's evidence as inadmissible hearsay. The single statement that was no
hearsay was an admission by a Texaco official, who said, "If any othern
did buy a drop of oil from you, come over and we will buy the rest."'1

The court found that, when read in light of all of the evidence in thi
record, this statement was too ambiguous to permit an inference o
conspiracy."'

Pan-Islamic also relied upon a "conscious parallelism" theory. Th
court addressed the theory with this statement: "We note that two ele
ments must be established by a plaintiff relying on a theory of consciolu
parallelism: (1) that the defendants engaged in consciously parallel ac
tion; (2) which was contrary to their economic self-interest so as not t(
amount to a good faith business judgment."1 2 Regarding eleven of thi
named defendants, the court found that Pan-Islamic failed to show anj
parallel action whatsoever, because it could not show that it had con
tacted any responsible purchasing officials with those defendants. Tho
court stated as follows:

While there is no question in this case of binding these corporate defen-
dants to a legal obligation, it is appropriate to require that, before the
acts of their employees in rejecting Pan-Islamic's offer subject them to
the possibility of antitrust treble damages, those acts be authorized by
the corporation. This is particularly so with corporate defendants of this
large size.1 s

Pan-Islamic had contacted responsible officials of four defendants. Thf
court, however, found no substantial evidence that Pan-Islamic's offei
was more favorable to those defendants than other sources of crude oi
that were available to them. Hence, defendants were not acting agains
their own financial self-interest when they turned down Pan-Islamic's of.
fers. Pan-Islamic attempted to show that it was offering a contract with
five-year option and that the sales price on this term was quite favorable
The court found, however, that the record did not support Pan-Islamic'i
claim that it was, in fact, making a multi-year offer to the oi.
companies." 4

109. 632 F.2d at 554.
110. Id. at 557.
111. Id. at 557-58.
112. Id. at 559. (citing Theater Enterprises v. Paramount Film Distrib. Corp., 346 U.S

537 (1954), and Aviation Specialties, Inc. v. United Technologies Corp., 568 F.2d 1186, 119,
(5th Cir. 1978)).

113. 632 F.2d at 561.
114. Id. at 564. The Fifth Circuit also discussed the district court's refusal to permil

1024 [Vol. X:
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B. Price Fixing

In In Re Plywood Antitrust Litigation,'" the court disposed of consoli-
dated appeals arising out of a number of class action suits against defen-
dant manufacturers of plywood for price fixing. In one appeal, referred to
as the "Lyman Lamb Case," the court dealt with the merits of the price
fixing case. Defendants claimed there was insufficient evidence of the
price fixing conspiracy. Plaintiffs' case apparently was based upon the
parallel adoption of a base point pricing system using a freight-computa-
tion from the west coast (although the product was actually shipped from
various southern shipping points), and the uniform use of standard
weights for western fir plywood products that exceeded the actual freight
costs incurred by defendant manufacturers. 1 '

The court discussed a number of defendants' internal memoranda re-
garding pricing policy and concluded that these documents, along with
the proof of parallel pricing conduct, were sufficient to prove the conspir-
acy. The court showed a definite willingness to uphold a jury finding of
conspiracy when parallel pricing is demonstrated and some further evi-
dence of collaborative action, however slight, can be found. The court,
quoting Gainesville Utilities Department v. Florida Power & Light
Co.,1 17 stated that it is "enough that, knowing that concerted action was

plaintiff to amend its complaint. Pan-Islamic desired to add a second count alleging a con-
spiracy and attempt to monopolize exploration, production, transportation, and refining of
crude oil, and a conspiracy and attempt to monopolize transportation and marketing of the
refined petroleum products. The Fifth Circuit held that denial of this amendment was
proper since Pan-Islamic had no standing to complain of any of these violations. The court
referred to its earlier decision in Jeffrey v. Southwestern Bell, 518 F.2d 1129 (5th Cir. 1975),
in which the court explained "the target area" test for standing as follows:

The "target area" test arose as a means of limiting the class of potential treble-
damage plaintiffs to those persons who could most adequately vindicate the pur-
poses of the antitrust laws. To attain standing a person (whether corporation or
individual) must be one against whom the conspiracy is aimed. Or, put in pluto-
nomic terms, the complainant must show that he is within that sector of the econ-
omy which is endangered by a breakdown of competitive conditions in a particular
industry.

Id. at 1131. The court in Pan-Islamic stated that the question of standing was a preliminary
one which may be answered only from the face of the complaint. Since the complaint con-
tained no allegations supporting the proposition that Pan-Islamic intended to enter or was a
competitor in any of the five areas in which antitrust violations were alleged, the court held
that it had no standing. 632 F.2d at 546.

The court further held that the district court did not abuse its discretion by denying Pan-
Islamic the further discovery that it had requested, primarily because Pan-Islamic had been
dilatory in seeking discovery for the two years after the complaint had been filed. Id. at 550-
52.

115. 655 F.2d 627 (5th Cir. 1981).
116. Id. at 631-32.
117. 573 F.2d 292, 300 (5th Cir. 1978).
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contemplated and invited, the [defendants] gave their adherence to thi
scheme and participated in it."11

Gainesville Utilities concerned an alleged horizontal division of territo
ries by Florida Power & Light Co. and Florida Power Corp. Florida Powe:
and Light allegedly refused to sell wholesale power to Gainesville Utilitie:
because of the division of territories. A jury had found for defendant,
but the Fifth Circuit reversed and held that as a matter of law the con
spiracy had been proven. The court relied on the considerable correspon
dence between the defendants, which rather clearly indicated that a terri
torial allocation existed. It is fair to say that the internal memoranda ii
In re Plywood Antitrust Litigation were somewhat more ambiguous ox
invitation and contemplation than the correspondence in Gainesvill
Utilities. The nature of the parallel activity was far more detailed that
the simple refusal to deal in Gainesville Utilities, however. Consequently
less additional proof of collaborative action was required.

The antitrust significance of the uniform use of base point price sys
tems, through which competitors avoid price differences by calculatinl
freight from a common point, has a long and variegated history. The Fed
eral Trade Commission (FTC) found the system at issue in In re Plywooc
Antitrust Litigation to violate section 5 of the Federal Trade Commissioi
Act"' as an unfair method of competition. 20 The Commission deter
mined that the parallel use of the system had the tendency to inhibil
price competition in the southern market although it had not resulted ir
identical prices. In Boise Cascade Corp. v. FTC,"'1 however, the Ninti
Circuit refused to enforce the FTC's order. The court found no evidenc(
of an overt conspiracy to use the basing point system and further helc
that there was no substantial evidence of an anticompetitive effect or
price. 12 Careful attention should therefore be given to the Fifth Circuit',

118. 655 F.2d at 634. The quotation from Gainesville Utilities is in turn a direct quota
tion from Interstate Circuit, Inc. v. United States, 306 U.S. 208, 226 (1939).

119. 15 U.S.C. § 45 (1976 & Supp. IV 1980).
120. Boise Cascade Corp., 91 F.T.C. 1 (1978).
121. 637 F.2d 573 (9th Cir. 1980).
122. The Fifth Circuit in In re Plywood Antitrust Litigation stated that it was no

bound to follow the Ninth Circuit's opinion in Boise Cascade. It gave the following
explanation:

The FTC proceeding tested the conduct of these defendants and others under § 5
of the Federal Trade Commission Act, 15 U.S.C. § 45 (1976). Plaintiffs brought
suit against these defendants and others under § 1 of the Sherman Act, 15 U.S.C.
§ 1 (1976). The Commission expressly declined to reach the conspiracy issue,
stating that was unnecessary to a determination under § 5. Boise Cascade Corp.,
91 F.T.C. at 102. In this case, plaintiffs proved a conspiracy to the satisfaction of
the jury and of the district court. The record evidence presented to the jury and
court below included testimony by witnesses who did not appear before the Com-
mission. Significantly, the FTC staff presented no expert testimony in support of

1026 [Vol. 3T
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enumeration of the sinister internal memoranda' s3 to determine how
much evidence in addition to the pricing system itself is necessary to tip
the scales against the defendants.

In Guzik v. State Bar,"4 plaintiff was unable to introduce sufficient
circumstantial evidence of price fixing to withstand a summary judgment.
The State Bar published promissory note forms for use in the real estate
business. The forms provided for ten percent attorneys' fees in the event
of default by the borrower. Plaintiffs were borrowers who had defaulted.
One group of plaintiffs had actually paid the ten percent attorneys' fee,
and the other group was allegedly in default and certainly in danger of
having to pay the fee.

The district court granted summary judgment for defendant on the
ground that plaintiffs did not have standing. The Fifth Circuit affirmed.
Although the court discussed standing in its opinion, it decided the case
on the ground that there was no evidence of a substantive violation.1 5

The court held that the State Bar forms were purely voluntary, that lend-
ers could use them or not as they pleased, and that the terms of the forms
could be changed. It made the following observations:

The State Bar of Texas does not require its members to use the forms it
publishes; there are no sanctions whatsoever for one who opts not to use
the forms. There is nothing in the record to indicate that the State Bar
of Texas has taken any position, public or private, on the attorney's fee
provision." 6

In short, there was simply no evidence of price fixing.

IV. PROOF OF THE FACT OF INJURY AND DAMAGES-PREDATORY PRICING
AND GROUP REFUSAL TO DEAL

Malcolm v. Marathon Oil Co. 2s7 is a long, copiously footnoted decision,
and it is extremely difficult to summarize. Plaintiff, an independent re-
tailer of gasoline, alleged a conspiracy by suppliers to deter his price cut-

its case, whereas, plaintiffs below put their expert economist before the jury. In
short, we are not bound by the Ninth Circuit's opinion in Boise Cascade.

655 F.2d at 636-37 n.2.
123. See 655 F.2d at 633-34.
124. 659 F.2d 528 (5th Cir. 1981).
125. Id. at 531.
126. Id; cf. Goldfarb v. Virginia State Bar, 421 U.S. 773 (1975). In Goldfarb, a minimum

fee schedule published by a county bar association was held to be a "naked agreement" to
fix prices. Plaintiffs had contacted nineteen lawyers, and each lawyer indicated that he
would not charge less than the minimum fee. Also, the State Bar Association had published
two ethical opinions indicating that fee schedules could not be ignored.

127. 642 F.2d 845 (5th Cir. 1981).

1982] 1027
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ting. He alleged that the suppliers first conspired to induce retail compet-
itors to drop their prices below plaintiff's costs. After this tactic failed
the suppliers, according to plaintiff, conspired to refuse to sell him gaso-
line. The district court held that even if a substantive violation were
assumed, plaintiff had failed to prove the fact of injury and damages, and
directed a verdict against him. 2' The Fifth Circuit reversed.

The Fifth Circuit assumed plaintiff had proved the alleged violations,
although its opinion could not be said to endorse plaintiff's case enthusi-
astically. The court remanded for further proceedings and made cleal
that it expressed no view on the sufficiency of the proof of the two alleged
conspiracies. 29 On the issues of fact of injury and proof of damages, the

128. Id. at 847. According to the court's decision in Jot-Em-Down Store Inc. v. Cotter &
Co., 651 F.2d 245 (5th Cir. 1981) (discussed supra in text accompanying notes 94-98), the
trial court should not now direct a verdict on this basis without first resolving the substan-
tive violation issue.

129. 642 F.2d at 865. A litigant approaching this case would undoubtedly consider the
problem of proving the alleged conspiracies to be the greatest hurdle. Given proof that de-
fendants actually did conspire to drive plaintiff out of business by inducing retailers to sell
below cost and by refusing to deal, one would think that proof of injury would be rathel
clear. The facts supporting the existence of a conspiracy, as described by the court of ap-
peals, were as follows:

[Malcolm] gave several examples of dramatic price drops in areas where his sta-
tions were located. In these instances, he testified that: a price would prevail in
the market before he entered, he would enter at a price one to two cents below the
prevailing price, and his competitors would cut their prices to a level equal to or
lower than his price. In some of these instances, Malcolm's competitors lowered
their prices beneath Malcolm's costs. He stated that in the time period just before
the time period for which he claimed damages the price drops below his cost often
occurred simultaneously at every location where he had a station.

Id. at 849-50 (footnotes omitted). The court pointed out that these drastic price drops were
not always engaged in by every competitor of Malcolm, "[b]ut it is clear from his testimony
that the generally prevailing price in the market drastically dropped even if not all his com-
petitors dropped their individual prices." Id. at 849 n.5. Malcolm buttressed this evidence
with his testimony "that an alleged conspirator threatened to keep retail prices down at all
Malcolm's locations unless Malcolm raised his prices to normal," Id. at 850, and that one ol
Malcolm's suppliers stated to Malcolm that, " '[T]hey just wouldn't allow [Malcolm] to sell
under the market [at Thomasville] and [that Malcolm] would have to go up to the normal
price [in Thomasville] in order to get the prices up everywhere.'" Id. Malcolm also testified
that one of his retail competitors told him that "prices would soon rise but 'they were going
to go back down' unless Malcolm raised his prices." Id.

Malcolm also introduced evidence that:
[T]he defendants employed pricing practices called temporary price allowances. If
one of the defendant's customers faced price-cutting competition, the defendants
would subsidize his cost of gas to allow him to retain his profit margin while he
met the price-cutter's terms. Those favorable arrangements were available to all
defendants' retail customers except the initial price-cutter.

Id. at 849. See e.g., FTC v. Sun Oil, 371 U.S. 505 (1963); Bargain Car Wash, Inc. v. Standard
Oil Co., 466 F.2d 1163 (7th Cir. 1972).
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courts dealt with the two conspiracies separately. Regarding the conspir-
acy to cause retail prices to be reduced to a level that would drive plain-
tiff out of business, the court not surprisingly stated that proof of the
conspiracy (which was assumed) would go far toward proving the fact of
injury:

In this case, given the assumption of predatory pricing conduct, Mal-
colm's business would be directly injured by depressed market prices.
Regardless of a businessman's reaction to predatory pricing some injury
will almost certainly follow: if he retains his price he will lose volume
and if he lowers his price he will have a small margin of profit on each
unit sold.13 0

Further, plaintiff testified that when he entered a particular market, his
competitors dropped their prices "to a predatorily low price." 1 The
court concluded that plaintiff had shown that the retail price induced by
the assumed conspiracy was below his profit-maximizing price in a com-
petitive market and that plaintiff was therefore injured. It is not clear,
however, how Malcolm established that the low prices set by competitors
were predatorily low or even below his own profit-maximizing price. The
court provided this explanation:

On the conspiracy regarding the supplier's refusal to deal, Malcolm offered evidence of a
parallel refusal.

In addition, Malcolm introduced evidence showing that other price-cutters
were refused supply. And testimony was given that indicated that prices in-
creased after Malcolm and other price-cutters left the market. And on cross-exam-
ination by one of the defendant's lawyers, one witness in the gasoline retail and
wholesale business testified that Malcolm was the only retailer refused supply
before any shortage of gasoline and no one, to the witness' knowledge, had ever
been denied supply because of a failure to pay his bills.

642 F.2d at 851 n.11.
With respect to whether this would be sufficient to create a jury question on the conspir-

acy issue, see Norfolk Monument Co. v. Woodlawn Memorial Gardens, Inc., 394 U.S. 700
(1969); First Nat'l Bank v. Cities Serv. Co., 391 U.S. 253 (1968); Theatre Enterprises v.
Paramount Film Distrib. Corp., 346 U.S. 537 (1954); Bogosian v. Gulf Oil Corp., 561 F.2d
434 (3d Cir. 1977); Golf City v. Wilson Sporting Goods Co., 555 F.2d 426 (5th Cir. 1977);
Solomon v. Houston Corrugated Box Co., 526 F.2d 389 (5th Cir. 1976); Delaware Valley
Marine Supply Co. v. American Tobacco Co., 297 F.2d 199 (3d Cir. 1961).

130. 642 F.2d at 855 (footnote omitted). The Fifth Circuit expressed the same sentiment
in In re Plywood Antitrust Litigation, 655 F.2d 627 (5th Cir. 1981):

Where, as here, plaintiffs prove a statutory violation in the form of a price fixing
conspiracy with respect to a homogeneous or fungible product that was marketed
in a similar manner throughout the country, it is not unlikely that plaintiffs also
will be able to prove by a preponderance of the evidence that purchasers of the
product in question were injured in their property or business.

Id. at 635.
131. 642 F.2d at 856.
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Malcolm, in this case, provided the district court and jury with evidence
of injury caused by the violation when he testified that a particular price
generally prevailed, on his entry to the market he set a slightly lower
price, and after his entry into the market his competitors dropped to a
predatorily low price. This evidence easily translates into a finding of lost
revenue and, hence, profits for Malcolm's business. By this evidence,
Malcolm offered proof that the price was often below what he, in his
business judgment, obviously believed was his profit-maximizing price in
a competitive market; hence, he offered proof that he was in fact injured
by these low prices.'"

The problem underlying this issue may be the confusing overlap be
tween proving the substantive conspiracy and proving the fact of damage
If the prices prevailing in the various retail markets were truly the resull
of independent decisionmaking, then those prices would seem to be tho
normal prices for those markets. On the other hand, if the prevailin
price level was the result of a conspiracy among retailers, suppliers, oi
both retailers and suppliers, and the conspiracy was entered into with thf
purpose of driving the plaintiff out of business, it would be self-eviden
that the price levels were below those that would normally prevail ix
those markets. The problem arises when the evidence of the conspiracy if
unclear. In this circumstance, if the plaintiff can show that the pric(
levels are clearly below the defendants' marginal costs, an inference ol
conspiracy might arise. Without such a showing, however, it could be dif.
ficult to infer a conspiracy, and if no conspiracy could be proven, then thf
prevailing price levels must be taken as normal.183

The court discussed the current debate over predatory pricing in
footnote.1 3 4 It observed that two views have emerged on the subject; thf
first view emphasizes proof of the desire or purpose to injure competitors
and the second view emphasizes proof that price levels are below margi.
nal costs. The court stated that in the present posture of the case, a selec.
tion between the views was unnecessary. The court added, however, thal

132. Id. at 856-58. (footnotes omitted). In a footnote accompanying the quoted passage
the court attempted further to explain how Malcolm had shown that the price level effectu
ated by his competitors had injured him.

133. As indicated by the following statement, the court apparently recognized this con
fusing overlap:

The existence of low prices may be part of the proof of the substantive violation.
Assuming that the legal requisites for proof of the predatory pricing violation were
satisfied, the evidence of low prices would also be part of the proof of damage.
Because of the nature of predatory pricing, this evidence would be used to prove
both the violation and the fact of damages. Thus, to show the fact of damage
Malcolm must have introduced evidence of low prices which we will assume con-
stituted the violation.

642 F.2d at 856 n.21.
134. Id. at 854 n.17.

1030 [Vol. 3".
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"before [Malcolm] may get his case to a jury, [he] must establish the exis-
tence of the substantive violation of predatory pricing. . .. "'5 This
statement would seem to imply that Malcom would have to show either
pricing below marginal costs or a conspiracy by defendants to drive him
out of business. Absent direct proof of such purpose (letters, memoranda,
or statements of representatives of the defendants, for example), proof of
pricing below marginal costs by the allegedly conspiring defendants could
very well be required.

In summary, the court's determination that Malcolm adequately
proved the fact of injury was to some extent dependent upon its assump-
tion that a conspiracy had been proven. On remand, therefore, the same
questions could arise regarding sufficiency of proof of the conspiracy.

Once the court determined that the fact of injury had been adequately
established, it was not difficult for it to find that Malcolm had introduced
sufficient proof of damages to withstand a directed verdict. The court em-
phasized the tolerance in the decisional law for "proof of losses which
border on the speculative"' and cited a number of decisions to this ef-
fect. The court, therefore, accepted Malcolm's proofs, which compared his
actual revenues with those he would have obtained had prices been at
their "normal" levels, although what those normal levels would have been
was rather speculative.' 7

The court next addressed the assumed conspiracy to boycott plaintiff.
The issue was whether the conspiracy caused Malcom to go out of busi-
ness given the availability of other suppliers of gasoline. Defendants ar-
gued that Malcolm was terminated by his last supplier because he had
failed to pay his bills and that this last termination was therefore law-
ful.' 8 The court stated that even if the last supplier's refusal to deal was
lawful, the continuing refusal of the other defendants to deal with Mal-
colm would be a cause of his going out of business. Further, it was not
fatal to Malcolm's case that he had failed to contact all known alternative
suppliers of gasoline. The court reasoned as follows:

We agree that in a refusal-to-deal case, a plaintiff who bypasses an
obviously adequate alternative supplier should not recover for the loss of
his business. But we do not agree that a plaintiff, seeking to recover dam-
ages because of an unlawful refusal to deal, must show a lack of an alter-
native supply.1 9

135. Id.
136. Id. at 858.
137. Id. at 858 n.24.
138. Malcolm contested this claim and offered evidence that the last supplier was a con-

spirator in the refusal to deal. The court found it unnecessary to address this claim. Id. at
861.

139. Id. at 863.
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The court recognized that an antitrust plaintiff has a duty to mitigate
damages. It was defendants' burden, however, to show that Malcolm's
conduct "was unreasonable and aggravated the harm. '"140 Defendants did
not sustain this burden. Although they established that Malcolm had
failed to contact a few known suppliers of gasoline, "[tihey did not estab-
lish that those dealers could or would have sold Malcolm the needed
product in sufficient quantities to keep his business alive."''

Regarding the amount of damages attributable to defendants' refusal to
deal, the court once again noted the tolerant case law on the subject. It
approved Malcolm's estimate of loss of future profits even though this
estimate was based only on Malcolm's revenue for the eight months pre-
ceding the failure of his business. The court further concluded that Mal-
colm's assumption on the future duration of his business was
permissible. 42

In conclusion, the Malcolm decision is prolix and confusing. Probably,
the significant issue is the point at which a conspiracy may be inferred
from parallel price cutting by competitors of the plaintiff. The decision
does not provide a satisfactory answer to this question.

V. THE INTERSTATE COMMERCE REQUIREMENT

The Fifth Circuit previously held that although real estate sales trans-
actions involve significant interstate aspects (including the interstate flow
of funds for financing and title insurance), real estate brokers were
"neither necessary nor integral participants in the 'interstate aspects.' " 4
The court distinguished Goldfarb v. Virginia State Bar'4 ' on the ground
that the attorneys in that case had an integral role in interstate com-
merce, and it then upheld the dismissal of a complaint alleging a price
fixing conspiracy among New Orleans real estate brokers. The Supreme
Court reversed the Fifth Circuit on this point in McLain v. Real Estate
Board of New Orleans, Inc."4 It observed that in Goldfarb the attorneys'
activities were "within the stream of interstate commerce" and that this
is one way to satisfy the commerce requirement."46 The Court also stated,
however, that the commerce requirement was satisfied if the defendants'

140. Id.
141. Id.
142. Id. at 864-65.
143. McLain v. Real Estate Bd. of New Orleans, Inc., 583 F.2d 1315, 1322 (5th Cir.

1978), rev'd, 444 U.S. 232 (1980).
144. 421 U.S. 773 (1975).
145. 444 U.S. 232 (1980).
146. Id. at 245-46.
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activities in general (as opposed to the specific activities alleged to violate
the Sherman Act) had as a matter of practical economics a not insubstan-
tial effect on interstate commerce. 7 The Court concluded that there was
sufficient evidence in the record to entitle plaintiffs to a trial on the issue:

It is clear, as the record shows, that the function of respondent real es-
tate brokers is to bring the buyer and seller together on agreeable terms.
For this service the broker charges a fee generally calculated as a per-
centage of the sale price. Brokerage activities necessarily affect both the
frequency and the terms of residential sales transactions. Ultimately,
whatever stimulates or retards the volume of residential sales, or has an
impact on the purchase price, affects the demand for financing and title
insurance, those two commercial activities that on this record are shown
to have occurred in interstate commerce. Where, as here, the services of
respondent real estate brokers are often employed in transactions in the
relevant market, petitioners at trial may be able to show that respon-
dents' activities have a not insubstantial effect on interstate commerce.""

Accordingly, the Court's theory was that the alleged brokerage fee con-
spiracy could have retarded the demand for residential sales, which in
turn could have affected financing and title insurance, the two recognized
interstate aspects of real estate sales."'

In Alabama Homeowners, Inc. v. Findahome Corp.,150 however, the
Fifth Circuit again found the interstate commerce nexus insufficient.
Plaintiff, Alabama Homeowners, was a real estate broker. Defendants,
Findahome Corp. and Southern Publishing Co., were publishers of real
estate buyers' guides in Mobile and Baldwin Counties, Alabama. These
guides were "throw-away" magazines that contained only the advertise-
ments of various real estate brokers. Plaintiff alleged that defendants
conspired to boycott his advertising because he advertised a "flat fee"
brokerage rather than a percentage brokerage.'' The district court
granted a directed verdict on the ground that plaintiff had failed to pro-
duce evidence from which reasonable men could find the existence of a
conspiracy or of anticompetitive conduct.'15 The Fifth Circuit affirmed,
but on the ground that there was insufficient proof of an effect on inter-

147. Id. at 246.
148. Id.
149. The Court also said that at trial plaintiffs might "establish that ... an appreciable

amount of interstate commerce is involved with the local residential real estate market aris-
ing out of the interstate movement of people, or otherwise." Id. at 245.

150. 640 F.2d 670 (5th Cir. 1981).
151. The unstated theory of plaintiff's case was that other brokers had persuaded the

two magazines to refuse his advertising because his "fiat fee" commission was lower on most
sales than the percentage commission. The other brokers were not defendants, however, and
plaintiff could produce no proof that they had participated in any way in the boycott.

152. 640 F.2d at 673.
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state commerce.' 53

The court referred to the McLain decision and said, "The issue in the
present case is very clear: whether the businesses of the [defendants],
publication of real estate guides to Mobile and Baldwin Counties, had a
substantial effect on interstate commerce."'" The court concluded that
plaintiff had failed to introduce any proof "that any sale had ever re-
sulted from any of the advertisements in either publication.""'5 The court
also said that the evidence offered by plaintiff showed that there were
other effective advertising media and that this "precluded the drawing of
a reasonable inference that [defendants'] magazines had some causal rela-
tionship to the sale or purchase of real estate."'"

Even if defendants' advertising activities in general had some effect on
real estate sales, this inquiry is arguably not the proper one. In McLain,
the nexus between the defendant real estate brokers' general activities
and commerce was relevant since the alleged price fixing would have af-
fected defendants' activities. 5 7 In Findahome, however, the alleged sub-
stantive violation was a boycott of plaintiff, not price fixing by defen-
dants. The appropriate inquiry is therefore defined in Hospital Building
Co. v. Trustees of the Rex Hospital'" as the nexus between plaintiffs'
general business activities and interstate commerce. 59 On this point, as
the Fifth Circuit observed in another context, Findahome had some

153. Id. at 674-75.
154. Id. at 674.
155. Id. at 674 n.7.
156. Id. at 674.
157. That is, inflated commissions would reduce the volume of real estate sales which, in

turn, would reduce the amount of financing and title insurance. This was also the theory in
Burke v. Ford, 389 U.S. 320 (1967), another price fixing case.

158. 425 U.S. 738 (1976).
159. Rex Hospital involved an alleged conspiracy to exclude plaintiff, a private hospital,

from the Raleigh, North Carolina, market. The district court and the court of appeals held
that hospital services were purely local activity. The Supreme Court reversed on the ground
that plaintiff's activities had a significant relationship with interstate commerce:

According to the amended complaint, petititioner purchases a substantial propor-
tion-up to 80%-of its medicines and supplies from out-of-state sellers. In 1972,
it spent $112,000 on these items. A substantial number of the patients at Mary
Elizabeth Hospital, it is alleged, come from out of State. Moreover, petitioner
claims that a large proportion of its revenue comes from insurance companies
outside of North Carolina or from the Federal Government through the Medicaid
and Medicare programs. Petitioner also pays a management service fee based on
its gross receipts to its parent company, a Delaware corporation based in Georgia.
Finally, petitioner has developed plans to finance a large part of the planned $4
million expansion through out-of-state lenders. All these involvements with inter-
state commerce, the amended complaint claims, have been and are continuing to
be adversely affected by respondents' anticompetitive conduct.

425 U.S. at 741.
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difficulty:

The factual context in which this suit was filed is particularly perplex-
ing. This is not a case involving a thriving and successful business being
brought to its knees by the pernicious practices of a predatory competi-
tor. This suit was filed less than four months after appellant corporation
came into existence and less than three months after it began doing busi-
ness. At the time suit was filed, appellant had eight listings. The record
further indicates that appellant had not even sold the first parcel of real
property prior to the commencement of this action. While these facts
would not otherwise prejudice the merits of appellant's case, they raise a
question as to the presence of a meritorious claim. 160

Nevertheless, plaintiff could have argued that its ability to establish
itself in the market was substantially impaired by the alleged boycott,
and that the activities of an established broker unquestionably would
have a not insubstantial effect on commerce. In the case of a boycott, the
commerce requirement should be judged on the general activities of
plaintiff's business absent the exclusionary practices. Otherwise an illegal
boycott would be exempt solely because of the incipient status of plain-
tiff's business. Viewed in this manner, the commerce requirement be-
comes a "fact of injury" question. In other words, if plaintiff could
demonstrate that his incipient brokerage business was impaired by the
alleged boycott, the commerce requirement should be satisi-
fled-assuming, of course, that an established brokerage business would
meet the commerce requirements of Rex Hospital. This requirement, in
turn, could require plaintiff to demonstrate that the advertising
magazines had some impact on real estate sales. Perhaps, therefore, we
have returned by a circular route to the Fifth Circuit's decision that
plaintiff offered no evidence of this impact.

VI. THE STATE ACTION EXEMPTION

In Foley v. Alabama State Bar,"' the court held that the discipline of
lawyers for violation of state bar advertising rules was within the state
action exemption. The disciplined lawyers had sued the state bar claim-
ing that it, along with its president and general counsel, had violated the
Sherman Act. The district court granted summary judgment in favor of
defendants, and held that the state action exemption precluded liability.
The Fifth Circuit affirmed and held that "[tihe case before us is not ap-
preciably distinguishable" ' from Bates v. Arizona.16 The Supreme

160. 640 F.2d at 674 n.8.
161. 648 F.2d 355, 357 (5th Cir. 1981).
162. Id. at 359.
163. 433 U.S. 350 (1977).

1982] 1035



MERCER LAW REVIEW

Court in Bates held that the Arizona Supreme Court was the state acting
as sovereign when it regulated lawyer advertising and that the Arizona
Bar, although playing an enforcement role, was completely subject to the
supreme court's continuous supervision. Both were therefore within the
state action exemption." The Fifth Circuit found that the situation was
the same in Alabama. The disciplinary rules of the Alabama State Bar
were effectively the rules of the Supreme Court of Alabama and the bar
acted only as the agent of the supreme court in regulating attorneys. 66

The court also held that the exemption extended to the president and
general counsel of the state bar since their "activities were undertaken
within the scope of their duties as agents of the state. . .."166

VII. THE INDIRECT PURCHASER DOCTRINE

In re Plywood Antitrust Litigation 67 was discussed above regarding
circumstantial proof of price fixing. In one of the other consolidated ap-
peals in that case, referred to by the court as "The French Quarter Apart-
ments Case," the court affirmed the grant of summary judgment against
plaintiffs because of their indirect purchaser status. 6 The court acknowl-
edged the general bar against indirect purchaser suits created by the Su-
preme Court in Illinois Brick Co. v. Illinois.'6 9 The Fifth Circuit noted,
however, that it had given a rather expansive reading to the pre-existing
"cost-plus" contract exception to this general bar in In re Beef Industry
Antitrust Litigation.'" The Court in Illinois Brick held that just as a
price-fixing seller may not defend a suit by his immediate purchaser on
the ground that the overcharge has been passed on to remote purchas-
ers,17 ' a remote purchaser may not sue to recover the passed on over-
charge.'7 2 The rationale for Illinois Brick was largely the speculative na-
ture of the allocation of damages among direct and remote purchasers
and the danger of double recovery against the seller. The court recognized
that speculation on the sharing of the overcharge could be avoided in the
one exceptional case in which the direct purchaser had a contract with a
remote purchaser that obligated the latter to purchase a fixed quantity on

164. 433 U.S. at 360-61.
165. 648 F.2d at 359.
166. Id.
167. 655 F.2d 627 (5th Cir. 1981).
168. Id. at 643.
169. 431 U.S. 720 (1977).
170. 600 F.2d 1148 (5th Cir. 1979), cert. denied, 449 U.S. 905 (1980).
171. Hanover Shoe, Inc. v. United Shoe Mach. Corp., 392 U.S. 481, 494 (1968).
172. 431 U.S. at 720.
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a cost-plus basis.17 The fixed quantity obligation is important because it
protects the direct seller from damage in the form of lost volume, a spec-
ulative damage he might otherwise suffer even if the remote purchaser
had a contractual obligation to pay cost plus a fixed markup. In Beef
Industries, however, the Fifth Cirucit held that the cost-plus exception
could extend to relationships that were functionally equivalent to a cost-
plus contract and, more importantly, rejected the fixed quantity require-
ment as essential. 174

173. In this light, the Court stated:
But this Court in Hanover Shoe indicated the narrow scope it intended for any
exception to its rule barring pass-on defenses by citing, as the only example of a
situation where the defense might be permitted, a pre-existing cost-plus contract.
In such a situation, the purchaser is insulated from any decrease in its sales as a
result of attempting to pass on the overcharge, because its customer is committed
to buying a fixed quantity regardless of price. The effect of the overcharge is es-
sentially determined in advance, without reference to the interaction of supply
and demand that complicates the determination in the general case.

431 U.S. at 735-36.
The Court also recognized that an exception might exist where the middleman was

"owned or controlled by its customer." Id. at 736 n.16. The reference to "customer" is as-
sumed to mean "supplier." In In re Beef Indus. Antitrust Litigation, 600 F.2d at 1160-61,
the court indicated that this exception might be expanded to middlemen who were partici-
pating vertically in the conspiracy with the result that they would be barred from suing
their supplier. Accord, Fontana Aviation, Inc. v. Cessna Aircraft Co., 617 F.2d 478 (7th Cir.
1980); Florida Power Corp. v. Granlund, 78 F.R.D. 441 (M.D. Fla 1978).

174. 600 F.2d at 1164. The court's treatment of the pertinent language from Illinois
Brick (see note 173 supra) perhaps did not do total justice to the fixed quantity
requirement:

Functional equivalence is not lost simply because the proponent of passing-on
theory cannot demonstrate that the middleman suffered no loss in volume as the
result of raising the price to his customers. In the cost-plus contract case itself, the
middleman is likely to have suffered a loss of volume and hence profits as a result
of the overcharge. His higher selling price will likely have caused potential cus-
tomers to forego his product. See Note, 63 CORNELL L. REv. 309, 329 n.87. The
middleman's loss of volume and the indirect purchaser's absorption of the over-
charge are wholly separable items of damage.

Id. (footnote omitted). The court's task in rejecting the fixed quantity requirement was
made more difficult because in Yoder Bros., Inc. v. California-Florida Plant Corp., 537
F.2d 1347, 1373-76 (5th Cir. 1976), cert. denied, 429 U.S. 1094 (1977), it had held that a
defendant could not use passing-on defensively when the cost-plus exception did not include
the fixed quantity obligation. In Beef Industries, the court retreated from its position in
Yoder Brothers on the theory that Yoder Brothers was erroneously based on the pro-en-
forcement rationale of Hanover Shoe, whereas, "[iun Illinois Brick . . .the Court denigrated
the importance of the antitrust enforcement rationale . . . and characterized the difficulty-
of-proof problem as the key to Hanover Shoe." 600 F.2d at 1164 n.20. The court concluded:

The Yoder Bros. panel would not have taken so niggardly a view of the passing-on
defense had it had the benefit of the Illinois Brick Court's interpretation of the
Hanover Shoe opinion, or had it known the implications that its decision might
have for antitrust plaintiffs after Illinois Brick.
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The court in Beef Industries held that the allegations of the complaint
were sufficient to bring the case within the functional equivalence excep-
tion. Plaintiffs, sellers of beef cattle, were suing remote retailers of beef
who had allegedly fixed the wholesale price of beef that they paid packers
and slaughterhouses. These wholesalers, in turn, paid the cattle sellers
less for beef on the hoof.175 The cattle sellers had alleged that the supply
of cattle was highly inelastic, since to get top price the cattle had to be
sold within a peak three week period. Further, the middlemen allegedly
calculated the price pursuant to a rigid formula that incorporated the re-
tail price, a practice which plausibly could be implemented because of the
inelasticity of supply. These allegations were sufficient to avoid the bar
imposed by the Supreme Court in Illinois Brick:

If allegations of structural inelasticity of short term supply and of rigid
formula pricing by intermediaries do not bring a case within the cost-
plus exception for purposes of a motion to dismiss on the pleadings, then
the cost-plus exception is a narrow one indeed, and must include only
cases involving literal cost-plus contracts. In light of the purposes behind
the passing-on bar-preventing duplicative recoveries and avoiding the
uncertainties involved in the use of incidence theory-the situation al-
leged in these complaints is the functional equivalent of the cost-plus
contract case. " 6

In In re Plywood Antitrust Litigation, the court recognized the func-
tional equivalence exception to Illinois Brick, but upheld summary judg-
ment against plaintiffs:

Despite deposition testimony taken from dozens of witnesses with both
direct and indirect buying experience, appellants do not cite a single ex-
ample of functional equivalence with a pre-existing cost-plus contract
... much less rigid and uniform adherence to any such business
arrangements."'

Id.
175. The factual situation in Beef Industries is therefore the reverse of that in Illinois

Brick, since sellers were alleging a price fix by remote buyers that was passed up the chain
of distribution. The Fifth Circuit held that this had no effect on the bar established by the
Court in Illinois Brick. 600 F.2d at 1159.

176. Id. at 1166 (footnote omitted). Contra, Mid-West Paper Prods. Co. v. Continental
Group, Inc., 596 F.2d 573 (3d Cir. 1979).

177. 655 F.2d at 641 (emphasis in original) (citing cf. Eastern Airlines, Inc. v. Atlantic
Richfield Co., 609 F.2d 497, 499 (TECA 1979) ("to be legally sufficient any functional
equivalent of a cost-plus contract exception to the Hanover Shoe ban against defensive use
of passing on must be one that is already in existence so that its imput on middlemen's
pricing decision can be known in advance," 655 F.2d at 641).
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VIII. PRICE FIXING-CRIMINAL INTENT

In United States v. Cargo Service Stations, Inc.,1 7 8 four corporate de-
fendants, discount gasoline retailers in Florida, were convicted of price
fixing. Defendants claimed that they were only exchanging price informa-
tion, but the Fifth Circuit found that the government's evidence of nu-
merous conversations concerning price was sufficient to support a convic-
tion.179  Defendants also contended that the jury instructions did not
meet the requirements established by the Supreme Court in United
States v. United States Gypsum Co.'80 The Court in Gypsum held that a
criminal conviction under the Sherman Act required proof of either a
purpose to cause an anticompetitive effect or knowledge that this effect
was a probably consequence of defendants' conduct. 8 ' The trial court in-
structed the jury as follows:

In this case ... the Government must prove beyond a reasonable doubt
that the defendants knowingly formed, joined or participated in a combi-
nation or conspiracy to fix, raise, maintain or stabilize retail prices of
gasoline in Florida. Since, as I have already instructed you, a combina-
tion or conspiracy to fix prices is unreasonable and illegal as a matter of
law, the Government does not have to prove that the defendants specifi-
cally intended to unreasonably restrain trade or that such conduct is an
unreasonable restraint of trade. .... 1.2

The fault with this instruction under Gypsum is that it does not tell the
jury that purpose or knowlege is the required criminal intent. To invest
the instruction with a requirement of proof of these subjective intents, it
is necessary to imply them in the phrase to "knowingly combine or con-
spire." All that the trial court's instruction really conveys is that defen-
dants need not specifically intend to violate the Sherman Act because
price tampering violates the Act per se. The fact remains, however, that
to be criminally responsible the defendants must either have had the con-
scious objective to tamper with prices or have known that price tamper,
ing was a probable consequence of their behavior.

The Fifth Circuit nevertheless found the instruction adequate. The
court distinguished Gypsum on the ground that in Gypsum the govern-
ment's case was based exclusively on evidence of a price information ex-
change whereas the present case concerned "direct evidence of price
fixing."' 8 The court said that since price fixing is illegal per se, "the in-

178. 657 F.2d 676 (5th Cir. 1981).
179. Id. at 681.
180. 438 U.S. 422 (1978).
181. 438 U.S. at 445.
182. 657 F.2d at 681.
183. Id. at 683 n.5.
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tent to fix prices is equivalent to the intent to unreasonably restrain
trade."'1 8 4 This statement is certainly true, but it does not answer the
question of what constitutes the intent to fix prices. On this issue, the
jury received no explicit instruction. The court responded as follows:

We do not agree, however, that the instruction of the district court im-
properly allowed the jury to convict absent a finding of criminal intent.
The jury was instructed that "the Government must prove beyond a rea-
sonable doubt that the defendants knowingly formed, joined or partici-
pated in a conspiracy to fix, raise, maintain or stabilize retail prices of
gasoline in Florida." In other words, the jury was instructed that the
Government must prove that appellants intended to fix prices. As we dis-
cussed above, because fixing prices is by itself an unreasonable restraint
of trade, an intent to fix prices is equivalent to an intent to unreasonably
restrain trade; therefore, a finding that appellants intended to fix prices
supplies the criminal intent necessary for a conviction of a criminal anti-
trust offense.' 85

Since defendants claimed that they had agreed only to participate in an
information exchange, arguably they were entitled to a more explicit in-
struction on the required subjective mens rea. The jury could have re-
jected the government's "direct evidence of price fixing" and nevertheless
convicted because defendants knowingly entered into an agreement,
which ultimately stabilized prices. Finally, it should be noted that noth-
ing in Gypsum indicates that the holding was not to be applied to per se
cases.1

6

IX. REGULATORY EXEMPTION

In Great Plains Airline Shareholders Association v. Frontier Airlines,
Inc.,1 8 7 the court held that an alleged group boycott was exempt from
antitrust scrutiny since the conduct was authorized by a resolution ap-
proved by the Civil Aeronautics Board (CAB) pursuant to its statutory
authority and was also monitored by the CAB.'" A Scheduled Airline
Traffic Office (SATO) is a ticketing outlet for personnel on a military
base or NASA installation. Frontier Airlines administered a SATO at

184. Id. at 683.
185. Id. at 684.
186. The Fifth Circuit also held that the jury verdict was not fatally inconsistent be-

cause the corporate defendants had been convicted even though all of the individual defen-
dants had been acquitted. The court rejected a Kentucky case to the contrary, C & S Cattle
Co. v. Commonwealth, 312 Ky. 315, 227 S.W. 2d 420 (1950), and relied on decisions in the
Fifth Circuit. 657 F.2d at 685 and cases cited therein.

187. 662 F.2d 394 (5th Cir. 1981).
188. Id. at 396.
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Fort Sill. Frontier, allegedly pursuant to a conspiracy with other airline
members that participated in the SATO, refused to advise customers of
the services provided by Great Plains. The latter, however, was not a
member of the SATO and under the SATO agreement Frontier had no
obligation to represent nonmembers. The SATO agreement was estab-
lished under a resolution approved by the CAB.

The district court granted summary judgment for Frontier on the
ground that its activities were immune from antitrust attack under sec-
tion 414 of the Federal Aviation Act. 89 This section expressly exempts
behavior that "may be necessary to enable such person to do anything
authorized, approved or required by [a CAB] order." 9 ' The Fifth Circuit
affirmed. The court quoted with approval the following language from the
district court's order: "[t]he test for immunity has two prongs: the
court must find (1) that the conduct charged was approved by a specific
order of the CAB or was clearly contemplated by such an order and (2)
that the CAB monitored and supervised the conduct complained of." ''

The court said this test was extracted from the decision in Hughes Tool
Co. v. Trans World Airlines, Inc.'92 Although the court noted that ex-
emptions from the antitrust laws are to be implied "only to the minimum
extent necessary,"' 9" it affirmed the district court's conclusion. Although
the CAB's approval of the resolution under which SATOs were estab-
lished arguably did not extend to the exclusionary practices authorized by
the SATO agreement, the court found without further explanation that
the practice was "clearly within the contemplation of. . .[the] CAB or-
ders."' 9" The court further found adequate CAB supervision of the opera-
tion of the SATOs in the "continued CAB supervision by approval of
amendments to the resolution under which the SATOs are
established."""

Judge Tate dissented, stating:

Even if the SATO agreement implicitly permitted Frontier to ignore
Great Plains in its planning packages, and CAB approved the agreement,
I doubt whether immunity would attach if such neglect and disparage-
ment was the result of Frontier's agreement ("combination") with other

189. 49 U.S.C. § 1384 (1976), amended by 49 U.S.C. § 1384 (Supp. III 1979); 662 F.2d at
395 n.1.

190. 49 U.S.C. § 1384.
191. 662 F.2d at 395.(quoting district court order, mem. op.).
192. 409 U.S. 363, 389 (1973).
193. 662 F.2d at 395 (quoting from Cantor v. Detroit Edison Co., 428 U.S. 579, 597

(1976)).
194. 662 F.2d at 396 (quoting from Scroggins v. Air Cargo, Inc., 534 F.2d 1124, 1131 (5th

Cir. 1976)).
195. 662 F.2d at 396.
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SATO members to drive Frontier out of business."'

He was also of the view that summary judgment was improper.

X. PRICE DISCRIMINATION

In Jefferson County Pharmaceutical Association v. Abbott Laborato-
ries, 1 97 the Fifth Circuit held in a two to one opinion that "as a matter of
statutory construction. . . governmental purchases are outside the reach
of the Robinson-Patman Act." 9 8 The majority adopted the opinion of the
district court in support of its order dismissing the complaint. Judge
Thomas Clark dissented on the ground that, although sales of goods to
governmental bodies and other private nonprofit institutions are statuto-
rily exempt from the Robinson-Patman Act when purchased for internal
consumption,"' this exemption does not apply when the goods are pur-
chased for resale in competition with other private businesses.2 0 0 This was
the holding in Abbott Laboratories v. Portland Retail Druggists Associa-
tion2 ' 1 regarding sales to private nonprofit institutions, and Judge Clark
saw no reason against extending the rule to governmental purchases."' 2

He added that according to City of Lafayette v. Louisiana Power & Light
Co.,2 0 3 implied immunities from the antitrust laws are not favored absent
"some overriding public policy"2 4 and no such policy was shown in this
case.

205

The majority arrived at its exemption for all governmental purchases
by construing the Robinson-Patman Act in light of the Act's legislative
history. The court distinguished Abbott Laboratories on the ground that
that case concerned the statutory exemption for purchases by private

196. Id.
197. 656 F.2d 92 (5th Cir.), petition for cert. filed, 50 U.S.L.W. 3377 (Oct. 30, 1981) (No.

81-827).
198. Id. at 103 n.10.
199. The Nonprofit Institutions Act, 15 U.S.C. § 13(c) (1976), provides as fol-

lows: "Nothing in the Act ... shall apply to purchases of their supplies for their own use
by schools, colleges, universities, public libraries, churches, hospitals, and charitable institu-
tions not operated for profit."

200. 656 F.2d at 96-97 (Clark, J., dissenting).
201. 425 U.S. 1 (1976).
202. Recently, the Supreme Court has interpreted the Nonprofit Institutions Act as

not applying to privately-owned hospitals when operating outside their "intended
institutional operation." Portland Retail Druggists, 425 U.S. at 14 .... The pre-
sent case is indistinguishable . . . except for the fact that the hospitals in question
are owned by the State of Alabama.

656 F.2d at 96.
203. 435 U.S. 389 (1978).
204. Id. at 397.
205. 656 F.2d at 96.
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nonprofit hospitals for their own use, and had nothing to do with govern-
mental hospital purchases.2 6 In addition, the court distinguished Louisi-
ana Power not only on the ground that it was a Sherman Act case rather
than a Robinson-Patman case, but also on the ground that the acts un-
dertaken by the municipality in that case were independent of any state
directive. The hospital purchases that were before the court in Jefferson
County Pharmaceutical, however, involved state mandates (the bid laws)
which required acquisition of goods by governmental bodies at the lowest
price available. These distinctions are certainly subject to debate. Lan-
guage in Louisiana Power indicated that the Supreme Court considered
its opinion applicable to all the antitrust laws and not just to the Sher-
man Act.2"7 Furthermore, the court's reference to the fact that the
purchases at issue were made pursuant to the state bid law mandate is
curious because the court also said that its decision was based on statu-
tory construction and not on the state action doctrine.208

206. 656 F.2d at 99. The court reached this conclusion notwithstanding the fact that 15
U.S.C. § 13(c) expressly refers to purchases by "public libraries," which would undoubtedly
qualify as governmental purchases.

207. The Court concluded that Congress' intent "to subject cities to liability under the
antitrust laws" should depend "on the impact of some overriding public interest" and not
upon the meaning of "persons" in the Sherman Act. 435 U.S. at 397. In support of this
conclusion the Court said:

When Congress wished to exempt municipal service operations from the cover-
age of the antitrust laws, it has done so without ambiguity. . . .15 U.S.C. § 13(c)

grants a limited exemption to certain not-for-profit institutions for
"purchases of their supplies for their own use' from the provisions of the Clayton
Act as amended by the Robinson-Patman Act ...which otherwise make[s] it
unlawful for a supplier to grant, or for an institution to induce, a discriminatory
discount with respect to such supplies. Congress expressly included public librar-
ies in this exemption. (Public libraries are, by definition, operated by local
government. .... )

Id. at 397 n.14 (emphasis added).
Further, the Supreme Court noted "that it has not been regarded as anomalous to re-

quire compliance by municipalities with the substantive standards of other federal laws
which impose such sanctions upon 'persons' ". Id. at 400. The Court cited Union Pac. R.R.
v. United States, 313 U.S. 450 (1941), wherein § 1 of the Elkins Act, 49 U.S.C. § 41(1) (1976)
(repealed 1978), making it unlawful for "any person. . . to offer, grant, or give, or to solicit,
accept, or receive any rebate, concession, or discrimination in respect to the transportation
of any property in interstate or foreign commerce," was held applicable to municipalities.
435 U.S. at 400. The Court pointed out that "It is significant that the cities' argument was
rejected in the context of the antirebate provisions of the Elkins Act, a statute which essen-
tially is an antitrust provision serving the same purposes as. . .the Robinson-Patman Act."
Id. at 401 n.19.

208. 656 F.2d at 103 n.10. In note 10 the majority recognized that the state action doc-
trine applies to "anticompetitive conduct engaged in as an act of government by the State
as sovereign, or, by its subdivisions, pursuant to state policy to displace competition with
regulation or monopoly public service." 435 U.S. at 413. Since the majority did not base its
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The majority next discussed the testimony of H.B. Teegarden ("de-
scribed by Representative Patman as the author of the bill '200 ) before the
House Judiciary Committee. Teegarden had testified that the Robinson-
Patman Act would not require governmental entities to bid on the same
basis as private purchasers and would not prevent competitive bidding
below trade price levels. Although Teegarden took this view in general,
Judge Clark pointed out in his dissent that Teegarden also testified that
the Act would apply if a governmental hospital was in competition with a
private hospital.2 1 0 The majority also relied upon the statements of com-
mentators and upon lower court decisions supporting the existence of a
governmental purchase exemption. All of these authorities may be traced
back to Justice Brandeis' opinion in Emergency Fleet Corp. v. Western
Union Telegraph Co."" This factor may, indeed, be the strongest sup-
port for the majority's holding.""'

Jefferson County Pharmaceutical presents an extremely interesting is-
sue that has provoked a sharp conflict of judicial views. It seems likely,
therefore, that this problem has not been finally laid to rest.

decision on the state action doctrine, the importance of a state mandate is difficult to see.
Moreover, whether there is a state mandate in the bid laws to engage in anticompetitive
conduct is debatable. The bid laws in question, ALA. CODE §§ 41-16-20 to -21 (Supp. 1981),
require that contracts for the purchase of supplies involving $2,000 or more made on behalf
of any State department, board, etc., be let by free and open competitive bidding to the
lowest responsible bidder.

209. 656 F.2d at 100.
MR. HANCOCK. Would they or could they sell to a city hospital . . . under
this bill?
MR. TEEGARDEN. I would have to answer it this way. In the final analysis, it
would depend upon numerous questions of fact in a particular case. If the two
hospitals are in competition with each other, I should say then that the fact
that one is operated by the city does not save it from the bill. If they are not in
competition with each other, then they are in a different sphere.

656 F.2d at 95 n.4 (emphasis omitted).
211. 275 U.S. 415 (1928).
212. Emergency Fleet was a suit by the Fleet Corp. against Western Union to obtain a

preferential rate that was granted to other governmental instrumentalities. Western Union
argued that Fleet should be denied the special rate, even though they were a governmental
instrumentality, because they competed with private shipping concerns.

Justice Brandeis pointed out that in operating ships, Fleet was performing a governmen-
tal function, and that the conduct of business in competition with private interests may be
for a public purpose. He noted that other governmental units, such as the post office and
War Finance Corporation, competed with private business, yet still enjoyed special govern-
ment rates. The Court held that Emergency Fleet was entitled to the preferential rate. Id.
at 426.

Whatever the meits of this view may have been in 1928, the value judgment arguably was
reassessed in 1938 with the passage of the Nonprofit Institutions Act. See note 199 and
accompanying text supra.
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Delta Marina, Inc. v. Plaquemine Oil Sales, Inc.2 " represents one
other Robinson-Patman case disposed of by the Fifth Circuit. Delta sued
Plaquemine Oil Sales (POS) on a contract that required POS to provide
Delta with a supply of diesel fuel at a particularly low price. POS de-
fended on the ground that the contract violated the Robinson-Patman
Act and was therefore unenforceable. The district court granted summary
judgment in favor of POS. The Fifth Circuit reversed on the grounds that
the contract did not violate Robinson-Patman and that even if it did, the
violation did not make it unenforceable.21 4

The Fifth Circuit held that the contract did not violate Robinson-Pat-
man for a number of reasons. First, the record did not clearly establish
that the price charged by POS was discriminatory. Although there was
some evidence of price discrimination in that the price was referred to as
the "jobber's price" even though Delta was a retailer, and the presidents
of Delta and POS were brothers, there was no evidence that POS denied
contracts to other customers on the same terms.1

Second, Robinson-Patman requires that at least one sale be "in com-
merce." The record revealed that POS purchased its diesel fuel within
Louisiana. The record did not show a sale by POS, discriminatory or oth-
erwise, outside of Louisiana.

Third, a violation of section 2(a) of Robinson-Patman requires a show-
ing that the effect of the discrimination "may be substantially to lessen
competition . . . or to injure, destroy or prevent competition."", The
Fifth Circuit has held that this requirement "may be satisfied simply by a
showing of a 'reasonable possibility' of such an effect, 2 1 7 but the court
below made no finding of such harm to competition, and the Fifth Circuit
said that "the record would not have permitted it to do so. '

211

Finally, the court stated that only a seller can violate section 2(a). POS,
therefore, was the culpable party, and it was also the party advancing
illegality as a defense. A buyer can violate Robinson-Patman under sec-
tion 2(f), 11 but such a violation requires not only a violation of section
2(a), but also "knowledge by the buyer that the circumstances enumer-
ated in sections 2(a) and 2(b) of the Act that allow discriminatory prices

213. 644 F.2d 455 (5th Cir. 1981).
214. Id. at 456.
215. Id. at 456-57. POS argued that since it lost money on the contract with Delta, the

terms must have been discriminatory. The court said that, "actually this fact only shows
that the contract was, in retrospect, an unwise one for POS to have entered into in 1967."
Id. at 457.

216. 15 U.S.C. § 13(a) (1976).
217. 644 F.2d at 458 (citing Borden Co. v. FTC, 381 F.2d 175, 178 (5th Cir. 1967)).
218. 644 F.2d at 458.
219. 15 U.S.C. § 13(f) (1976).
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do not obtain."'220 The evidence in the record below was in dispute re-
garding whether Delta violated section 2(f), and summary judgment for
POS was therefore improper.

Regarding the enforceability of a contract that violates Robinson-Pat-
man, the court relied heavily on Bruce's Juices, Inc. v. American Can
Co.22 The court in Bruce's Juices held that although a contract might be
"intrinsically illegal" under the Sherman Act, no such result would per-
tain under Robinson-Patman because at least two sales transactions
would always be required to violate the Act. Hence, one would have to
look outside the contractual transaction itself to other transactions in or-
der to establish illegality.22

The Fifth Circuit further pointed out that Delta was not a culpable
party to the contract, absent a violation of section 2(f). The court in
Bruce's Juices strongly indicated that Robinson-Patman should not be a
defense if the contract was being enforced against an innocent party to
the contract. The court's reasoning, therefore, should be even more ap-
propriate if the innocent party is seeking to enforce the alleged discrimi-
natory contract against the culpable party.2 s3

XI. THE CORRUGATED CONTAINER LITIGATION

The Fifth Circuit rendered four decisions dealing with various issues in
a protracted class action litigation based on alleged price fixing by numer-
ous defendant manufacturers of corrugated containers.224 In In re Corru-
gated Container Antitrust Litigation,225 the Fifth Circuit addressed the
district court's approval of certain settlement agreements negotiated by
class representatives. The court said the trial court should not approve a

220. 644 F.2d at 458.
221. 330 U.S. 743 (1947).
222. Id. at 755.
223. 644 F.2d at 458-59. The court distinguished Response of Carolina v. Leasco Re-

sponse, Inc., 498 F.2d 314 (5th Cir), cert. denied, 419 U.S. 1050 (1974), and Tampa Elec. Co.
v. Nashville Coal Co., 276 F.2d 766 (6th Cir. 1960), rev'd on other grounds, 365 U.S. 320
(1961), on the basis that those decisions did not concern contracts illegal under the Robin-
son-Patman Act. The court also distinguished its earlier decision in Jarrett v. Pittsburgh
Plate Glass Co., 131 F.2d 674 (5th Cir. 1942), which held that a contract allowing a distribu-
tor commission contrary to § 2(c) was unenforceable. Id. at 459. The court said: "Jarrett
was decided before Bruce's Juices, and it concerned section 2(c) of the Act rather than
section 2(a). We need not decide whether Jarrett is still good law regarding section 2(c),
but, given Bruce's Juices, it clearly does not govern section 2(a) (and hence section 2 (f))."
Id. at 459.

224. The history of the litigation is described in In re Corrugated Container Antitrust
Litigation, 643 F.2d 195, 202-06 (5th Cir. 1981).

225. 643 F.2d 195 (5th Cir. 1981).
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settlement unless it "is fair, adequate and reasonable, ' 22 6 and the ap-
proval should not be upset on appeal unless "the trial court clearly
abused its discretion. '22 7 Applying this standard, the court remanded the
case to the district court for further consideration of the adequacy of the
settlements.

The proponents of the settlements presented the affidavit of an econo-
mist which suggested that the range of damages for the four year limita-
tions period was between two hundred and eight hundred million dollars.
The trial court used these figures as "the benchmark of possible recovery
at trial. 2 2' 8 The opponents of the settlements contended that there was a
significant chance of recovering damages for a longer period because of
fraudulent concealment by defendants. The Fifth Circuit said that the
trial court had failed to explain why it considered damages only for the
four year period, and that on remand the trial court should determine
whether plaintiffs had a significant chance of recovery for a longer pe-
riod.22

1 If plaintiffs did have such a chance, the trial court should either
refuse to approve a settlement without an estimate of damages for that
period, or explain why the damage estimate for the four year period was a
fair measure for the total period.2 3 0

The opponents also attacked the economist's method of computing
damages for the four year period. This method compared profits for a
conspiracy period with profits for a nonconspiracy period. The opponents
contended that profits were affected by external variables other than the
pricefixing conspiracy, and that pricefixers would adopt the easy life and
be less cost efficient than competitors. The opponents asserted that a
price comparison would have been more accurate. The trial court had
made no findings with respect to the validity of the profit comparison,
and the Fifth Circuit directed these findings to be made on remand.2"

The Fifth Circuit next said that because each defendant would be
jointly and severally liable for the total amount of damages, a single dam-
age study was adequate for all defendants. However, the reasonableness
of the settlement in relation to each defendant would be affected by the
individual defendant's financial condition and ability to pay.2 2 Further,
settlements with some defendants early in the litigation might reasonably
be less than later settlements because the early settlements might be

226. Id. at 207 (quoting Cotton v. Hinton, 559 F.2d 1326, 1330 (5th Cir. 1977)).
227. 643 F.2d at 207 (quoting Young v. Katz, 447 F.2d 431, 432 (5th Cir. 1971)).
228. 643 F.2d at 213 (footnote omitted).
229. Id. at 214.
230. Id.
231. Id. at 215. The court also said that on remand the trial court would be wise to

employ a special master with economic expertise to evaluate the settlement. Id. at 215 n.30.
232. Id. at 216.
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"needed to induce other defendants to the bargaining table. 238 The trial
court approved the package of settlements and did not evaluate the rea-
sonableness of each settlement separately. The court directed the trial
court on remand to either make findings on the reasonableness of each
settlement or to explain why such findings were unnecessary.'"

Finally, the court noted that, in addition to the estimate of damages
and the likelihood of prevailing on the merits, the trial court also should
consider certain other factors of varying importance. These other factors
would include "the complexity, expense and likely duration of the litiga-
tion. . . the reaction of the class to the settlement; [and] the stage of the
proceedings ... - The court said that on remand the district court
should make more detailed findings on these points as well.2 3 6

On remand, the trial court made detailed findings that plaintiffs were
unlikely to recover for damages outside the four year limitation period
and that the economist's estimate of damages was a reliable measure of
the range of possible recovery. The trial court also made detailed findings
on the likelihood of success on the merits and other discretionary factors
including the small number of class members who opted-out; the length,
complexity, and expense of trial; the financial benefits of immediate pay-
ment; the simplification of the remaining litigation against the nonset-
tling defendants; the cooperation of the settling defendants in this litiga-.
tion; and the ability of plaintiffs to collect the total amount of damages
less the settlement amount from the nonsettling defendants. Finally, the
trial court made findings concerning the reasonableness of the settle-
ments for each defendant. The Fifth Circuit held that these findings were
sufficient in In re Corrugated Container Antitrust Litigation37 and di-
rected distribution of the proceeds2s

XII. RIGHT TO JURY TRIAL IN COMPLEX LITIGATION

The Third Circuit held in In re Japanese Electronic Products Anti-

233. Id. at 218.
234. Id. The court also said that the reasonableness of the-settlement to each defendant

could be affected by the strength of the case against that defendant. Id. at 217.
235. Id. at 217 (quoting City of Detroit v. Grinnell Corp., 495 F.2d 448, 463 (2d Cir.

1974) (brackets in original).
236. Id. at 218. The Fifth Circuit also affirmed the trial court in a number of other

respects which are summarized at 643 F.2d at 225-26.
237. 659 F.2d 1322 (5th Cir. 1981).
238. The court had earlier refused to address the issue of withholding the settlement

proceeds until it was determined whether the nonsettling defendants would have a right of
contribution from the settling defendants. 643 F.2d at 224-25. In the interim, the Supreme
Court held that no such right existed. Texas Indus., Inc. v. Radcliff Materials, Inc., 451
U.S. 630 (1981). The issue was therefore moot.
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trust Litigation239 that a complexity exception to the seventh amendment
right to a jury trial exists under certain circumstances. In Cotten v.
Whitco Chemical Corp.,2"' the Fifth Circuit indicated that it might agree
with the Third Circuit. The district court had denied a jury trial for the
following reason: "[I]t would be most difficult, if not impossible, for a
jury to reach a rational decision. . . .[T]his Court is of the opinion that
due process would best be served if this case were tried to a Court sitting
without a jury. '24 ' The Fifth Circuit reversed the district court's decision
because this ruling was not sufficient to qualify for the exception:

While we express no opinion as to whether a party's Seventh Amend-
ment right to a jury trial ever can be abrogated by the complexity of the
case, we are confident that if such an exception exists, it is only to be
applied when the trial judge finds that the case is so complex that a jury
could not render a rational decision based upon a reasonable under-
standing of the evidence and applicable rules of law. Any lesser standard
invites dilution of the constitutionally guaranteed right to a jury trial.2 42

The district court's "most difficult" language did not meet this standard.
Judge Tate concurred in the result, but opined that the seventh

amendment right to a jury trial was absolute and that there should be no
complexity exception. He objected to the intimation in the majority opin-
ion that a complexity exception might exist under certain
circumstances.2 43

XIII. FEDERAL JURISDICTION

In Wegmann v. London, " ' plaintiffs brought suit against a national ac-
counting firm in which they had been partners and claimed that certain
provisions of the partnership agreement, which amounted to covenants
not to compete with the partnership after individual partners withdrew,
violated section 1 of the Sherman Act. The district court dismissed the
lawsuit due to lack of subject matter jurisdiction. The district court found
no diversity jurisdiction because a partnership is a citizen of each of the
states in which its partners are citizens, and plaintiffs were partners in
the accounting firm at the time the lawsuit was filed. The district court
further held that there was no jurisdiction under 28 U.S.C. §§ 1331 and

239. 631 F.2d 1069 (3d Cir. 1980). Contra, In re U.S. Fin. Sec. Litigation, 609 F.2d 411
(9th Cir. 1979), cert. denied, 446 U.S. 929 (1980).

240. 651 F.2d 274 (5th Cir.), petition for cert. filed, 50 U.S.L.W. 3467 (Nov. 19, 1981)
(No. 81-968).

241. Id. at 276 (quoting the district court) (second brackets in original).
242. Id. (emphasis in original).
243. Id. at 276-77 (Tate, J., concurring).
244. 648 F.2d 1072 (5th Cir. 1981).
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1337245 because covenants not to compete are not subject to the Sherman
Act.

The Fifth Circuit held that the covenant not to compete was indeed
subject to the terms of the Sherman Act and that jurisdiction therefore
existed under sections 1331 and 1337.""0 Consequently, the court did not
reach the diversity question.

XIV. CONSPIRACY BETWEEN A CORPORATE DEFENDANT AND ITS OWN

EMPLOYEES-LOUISIANA STATE LAW

In Dussouy v. Gulf Coast Investment Corp.,2" ' the court held that
under Louisiana law a plaintiff successfully might plead and prove a con-
spiracy in restraint of trade between a corporate defendant and its em-
ployees.24 8 Plaintiff filed an action in the Louisiana state court against
Gulf Coast and Allstate Insurance Company alleging tortious interference
with plaintiff's business and a conspiracy in restraint of trade in violation
of Louisiana antitrust laws. The action was removed to federal district
court on the ground of diversity of citizenship. Plaintiff was an insurance
salesman who had written a binder for a customer for home insurance.
Plaintiff issued the binder on Travelers Insurance Company, but a lawyer
for Gulf Coast, the lender, informed plaintiff that the binder was unsatis-
factory to Gulf Coast. The customer then obtained a policy from Allstate
Insurance Company.

During discovery, plaintiff learned that Gulf Coast had not directed his
former customer specifically to Allstate, and plaintiff therefore concluded
that Allstate was not a party to the conspiracy. He voluntarily moved to
dismiss Allstate from the suit with prejudice. Gulf Coast then moved to
dismiss the complaint on the ground that since Allstate was no longer a
party, a conspiracy was not possible. The trial court granted the motion.
Plaintiff moved to vacate the dismissal and to amend his complaint to
allege a conspiracy between Gulf Coast and the lawyers who defended
Gulf Coast at the closing of the sale. The district court denied that mo-
tion and plaintiff appealed.

Regarding the allegation of conspiracy in restraint of trade, the court
noted that under federal antitrust law a corporation cannot conspire with
its officers or employees.2 9 The court then proceeded to discuss a number
of exceptions to this rule. The discussions, however, were in contexts

245. 28 U.S.C. §§ 1331, 1337 (1976).
246. 648 F.2d at 1074.
247. 660 F.2d 594 (5th Cir. 1981).
248. Id. at 604.
249. Id. at 603. Nelson Radio & Supply v. Motorola, 200 F.2d 911 (5th Cir. 1952), cert.

denied, 345 U.S. 925 (1953).
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other than antitrust violations. 50 The court also noted that when officers
or employees of a corporation act for their own personal purpose, they
become independent actors and could conspire with a corporation." ' The
court then referred to Louisiana decisions indicating that under certain
circumstances a conspiracy could be formed between a corporation and
its employees."5 ' The court noted that Louisiana might only accept the
view that a conspiracy results when employees of the corporation act for
their own personal purposes. The court said, however, that it need not
decide that point since, "[we] cannot say that the plaintiff can establish
no set of facts upon which he might prevail, so the action should not be
dismissed. '253

250. 660 F.2d at 603. Novotny v. Great Am. Say. & Loan Ass'n, 584 F.2d 1235 (3rd Cir.
1978), vacated on other grounds, 442 U.S. 366 (1979) (officers and directors of a single cor-
poration could be liable for conspiracy under 42 U.S.C. § 1985(c)); United States v. Consol.
Coal Co., 424 F. Supp. 577 (S.D. Ohio 1976) (corporation can be convicted of criminal
charges of conspiracy based solely on conspiracy with its own employees).

251. 660 F.2d at 603. Johnston v. Baker, 445 F.2d 424 (3rd Cir. 1971).
252. 660 F.2d at 604. Tooke & Reynolds v. Bastrop Ice & Storage, 171 La. 781, 135 So.

239 (1931); Economy Carpets Mfrs. & Distribs., Inc. v. Better Business Bureau, 361 So. 2d
234 (La. App. 1978), cert. denied, 440 U.S. 915 (1979).

253. 660 F.2d at 604.

1982] 1051




